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This history of Europe the land of our forefathers has been compiled by Albert Grulke from memory and from materials gathered over many years. It would be impossible to identify the author or originator of any materials used.

"The German is like a willow.
No matter which way you bend him,
He will always take root again."
- Alexander Solzhenitsyn - 

Disclaimer:

To the best of my knowledge this story is factual in all respects. Should any readers find error or dispute with the statements made, I invite them to please inform me without delay so that the error can be corrected.
No family details have been included that are not freely available on websites, in archives or through museums and historical societies.

Every effort has been made to present the material in a concise but caring tone so as not to cause offence to the memory of any individual or to any living descendant of the original German families. Should I have inadvertently written anything that could cause offence, or be in a defamatory tone, I apologise to the offended and assure them that it was totally unintended.
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Preface
I have entitled this book “Kinder des Vaterlandes” meaning “Children of the Fatherland”. In it I have endeavoured to produce for my readers an overall picture of the migration of our German ancestors to the state of New South Wales.
 The story of our German ancestors to New South Wales seems to have been all too quickly lost in time. Hence it is difficult and at times impossible to produce the facts to back up the claims. For this reason the story contains as much fact as I can produce, mixed with personal feelings, opinions and knowledge of our German heritage.
While the migration to Queensland and South Australia is well known, the migration of Germans to New South Wales is mostly unknown. Likewise the migration to Victoria has been given recognition although it is mostly tied to South Australia which is yet another misnomer.

When I began this project in the mid-1990s I was unaware of any German migrants coming to New South Wales. I wanted to learn if there had been any Germans migrating in mass to this state.

My search began in the Hunter Valley where I was to quickly learn how this district of Australia had led the way in both German migration and in wine production. Germans had been brought out from the Rhineland to develop the grape growing and wine production industry.
Imagine my surprise to learn that John Macarthur’s sons had played a major role in bringing sheep from Germany to their farm at Camden south of Sydney. With sheep came the shepherds from Northern Germany.

As the contracts of these shepherds, vine dressers and wine makers ended we saw them move out of the valleys. They moved south to Holbrook and Albury. They moved north and west to Glenn Innes and Inverell.

In Albury they might have been joined by the German Lutherans coming across from Tanunda in South Australia. This was not to be. The Germans moving down the future Hume Highway to Albury were Catholic. The Germans coming across from South Australia were Lutheran and the South Australians were determined that the two would not mix.
As a result we saw the Lutherans stop their trek at Jindera, twelve miles from Albury. From there, they gradually moved north along the Newell Highway to settle in such places as Temora, Gilgandra and later in Moree.
Thus the story of German migration to New South Wales is an exciting and interesting story of people coming from two different German states, arriving in two different ports and gradually moving their way throughout the state, yet never quite uniting until several generations down the track.

 Part One

Introducing 

Kinder des Vaterlandes

Children of the Fatherland

Kinder des Vaterlandes ------- Children of the Fatherland

Like so many of my ilk, I grew up knowing little of my ancestry. We were told that we were German and should be proud of it, but beyond that there was silence. Answers to questions about my German heritage were answered with “You are Australian; it is past, so get on with today.”
I came to learn of the South Australian Lutherans and how they treasured their history, but of my Queensland Germans there seemed little. They seemed to have arrived here and immediately set about making themselves Australians. They retained some of their customs and basic food recipes but beyond that there was nothing.
Throughout the Lutheran Church emanating from South Australia, one would hear exciting stories of how their ancestors had came and created a life in this new nation. If you met one of their descendants you would immediately experience them tracing your ancestry to see where you fit into the family.

German migration to Queensland was obvious. Everywhere there were Lutheran churches and every district and town had its assortment of German surnames. In almost every town one could buy locally made German met wurst and other culinary delights. Indications of German culture were everywhere.
I resolved that one day I would pursue my Queensland German ancestry.

When I finally began my search I realised that there was a larger story that needs to be told.

I was surprised to discover that there had been a huge migration of Germans into New South Wales. A word here and a word there kept revealing a story well hidden from daily sight.

I developed a suspicion that the German migration into New South Wales in the 19th century was as big, if not bigger than that to South Australia. I had strong suspicions but no proof. In time my theory has been proven correct as statistic show that German settlement into New South Wales is far higher than the figures for South Australia.
By joining to a number of Roots web lists, saving the content of any email with even a hint about German migration to New South Wales and searching innumerable websites, I managed to get the evidence to support my suspicion.
In putting this book together I have tried to combine genealogy with history to express the personal side of the migration programme.

German migration into New South Wales seems to fall into four or five categories:

Where they came from in Germany

Why they came

 When they came
Where they settled 
How they settled and lived after arriving

I am positive that there is yet much to be learned about this period of our history and that I have little more than skimmed the surface.

They are our ancestors, of whom we can be justly proud. They gave all that we might have the life they could only dream about.

We have a responsibility to the coming generations that they will understand the sacrifices made for them and us. We are the last generation that can tell it from a personal perspective.
Might all of us hold our heads high because we are the children of the Fatherland – Kinder des Vaterlandes?
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The German States in 1860
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Major German Settlements in New South Wales

German Migration to New South Wales in the 19th Century
When we begin our journey with the German migrants of the 19th century we begin a journey bound in all the emotion of man, all the ingenuity of man and all the frustrations of life.

The journey begins in Hessen, one of the German states of the 19th century. It begins in the little villages along the Rhine River dividing Germany from France amidst the grape trellises that grow on the hillsides and the homes of the men and women who tend these fruits of wine, to satisfy the palate of the rich.

The German states were never free of war for very long. The wars of Napoleon finished in 1815 and the people of Europe finally thought they had peace. The politicians of Europe even drew up planned division of the states and territories under the Congress of Vienna. They had peace.
Did they?

Germany was strategically placed using the Rhineland in such a manner as would prevent France from getting to Holland without going to war.

Further down the Rhine were the emerging Prussian industrial towns and cities that in another century would be the dreaded Ruhr Valley.

Everywhere in the German states land was becoming scarce. The peasants were being released from centuries of Fiefdom to have their own small plot of land or to work for some rich landowner. Probably he was the master of an earlier generation.
Finally there had been a population explosion in Europe. For hundreds of years there had been a stable population balance based on the village and the surrounding farm. Then for reasons not fully understood even to this day, the population of Germany began to increase - slowly at first, and then to the point where it could be described as a population explosion. Infant mortality dropped, families were larger and more people were living into old age. Perhaps it had something to do with better education or better health care
.

By the end of the 1830s, revolt and rumours of revolt were everywhere. By 1848 Europe was in turmoil with workers versus politicians in bloody conflict. To aid the confusion the extremists on both sides were using the situation to promote their own power base. Karl Marx and others had begun their politicization of the workers and Germany was a political time bomb.

Prussia was slowly but surely gaining control of the German states. One by one, it drew each state under its wing. This might have been good for Prussia but the German peasants did not trust the Prussian and the German ‘bullies’.

If all this was not bad enough, disease had destroyed the potato crop and damaged other crops. Food shortages drove up the price of food staples and caused further unrest.
One can only try to imagine the feelings of frustration among the workers in the vineyards around Eltville and neighbouring villages in the 1830s and 40s.
Then into their midst came the Englishman John Macarthur in 1817. He wanted men to go to this strange south land to care for his vineyards. 

Can we not hear the villagers talk?

“Where is this great south land that he talks about?

“Few of us have ever travelled as far as Frankfurt let alone across the oceans. Some have heard of New South Wales. It is on the east coast of New Holland. The Netherlanders went there once years ago. They said it was sand and more sand that would not grow anything. Now we have this Macarthur fellow trying to tell us that it is a land where we can grow good wine.

“He talks about shepherds for his flocks. He talks about thousands of sheep in one flock and thousands of cattle in one herd.
“How can a man have that many animals?
“How can a shepherd gather that many animals up each day and walk them out to the pasture?
“The man must be mad.”

Twenty years later another man, this time a German, arrives in the village with a paper to read.
“He tells the same story as that madman Macarthur told us years ago.

“Macarthur only wanted a few workers and some young adventurous types did go. He came back some seventeen years later and persuaded some other foolish men to go.

“Now we have this Wilhelm Kirschner trying to persuade us. He is different.

“He brings us a paper telling us the good things of this land. He brings us letters written by those who went with that madman Macarthur and they praise the land. He brings us offers of work.

“He offers us a fare to the new land, a good wage and a house. This offer is too good to throw away.”

Can we, in the 21st century, hope to understand the heart wrenching time spent making this decision?
With the political situation deteriorating, the population explosion and the rising food prices, many would consider the offer now whereas twenty years earlier they would have thought it a joke.

Mothers would be silently fretting and hoping that their sons and daughters reject the offer. Fathers would be wanting their sons to prosper yet not wanting them to leave home. It was not like now where we can fly to London in a day and visit our daughter in her London flat. Once these 19th century Germans left for the new land they were gone forever. They would never again see their sons and daughters, and worse still their grandchildren. Maybe they might not even hear from them again.

What if the ship were to sink on the way?
What if the wild animals were to come and eat them?

What if savage natives attacked them one night and killed them all?

Can we not hear the wise men of the village trying to persuade the young men not to migrate with this trickster Kirschner?

The man was being employed. He was offered a contract that was very tempting.

What did his wife think of the idea?
How many wives were ordered to migrate because they were the property of their husbands and must do as he decided?

Was it a joint husband and wife decision?

What about those families with teenage sons and daughters. We have all seen the performance of a daughter if she is moving from one suburb to another. We have all heard how she will lose all her friends and never find another friend. Then there was the love of her life. “He is the only one for me.” “You are destining me for a life of spinsterhood.”

Then we have the love sick son.

We also have the adventurous son wanting to go and we have the hesitant parent.

I doubt if we could ever imagine the trauma associated with making the decision to accept Kirschner’s offer and migrate.

I wonder did he just make a blanket offer or did he actually seek out the families he wanted.

Imagine the tears as families gathered to say farewell. Imagine the mothers unable to restrain themselves any longer begging their sons and daughters not to leave. Imagine the small children distraught at leaving Grandmother yet excited at the adventure ahead.

We are told of villages holding a funeral and wake for the migrating family members.

Like good Germans they stood strong and made their move.

The Germans have always been a migrating race yet always they have established themselves in the new community as one of it. The resilience of the German is an example to the world.

Not one of the families who came to New South Wales in the period 1817 to 1860 is found among my ancestors. However, I am just as proud of them and their place in our nation as I am of my own ancestors. Every child of this day who can look back and find in history an ancestor who, on whatever fateful day in the 19th century left the Rhineland can, no, should hold their head up in pride and say:
"Wir sind Kinder des Vaterlandes. Sie gaben alles und kamen (hierher), damit wir genießen können, wovon sie nur geträumt haben."

“We are children of the fatherland. They gave all and came that we might enjoy what they had only dreamt about.”

And so the journey began. For four days they sailed down the Rhine to Antwerp. Then by steamer across the wild North Sea to London, where in some instances they were delayed for as many as ten days. Sure they were accommodated in first class hotels. These were probably better than they had ever seen at home.

What a contrast. A fortnight ago she had to sweep the floors, cook the meals and wash the napkins.

Suddenly there are maids to do this for her. She and her family could wander down to the dinning hall three times a day for a meal.

There was time to relax. There was time to think.

“Have we made the right decision?” 
“Is it too late to turn back?”
“How far is it to the new land?
“How will I wash the napkins on the ship?”

The questions were many. The answers were few. I wonder did any family decide not to continue and returned to the Rhineland.

We are told of one whole group who almost returned but at the last minute were persuaded to continue the journey.

There were visits to doctors for medical examinations, paper work to complete, inventories had to be checked and bags were to be re-packed, monotony, boredom and annoyance to be borne as the migration officers made ready for the journey soon to begin. When would it ever cease?

Bored children, infatuated with the sights of London had nowhere to play. Father and Mother absorbed in the preparations, shopping and sightseeing. Children were tagging along.

Yet they overcame it all and began the journey.

As the ship sailed down the Thames and into the English Channel there must have been excitement mixed with trepidation:

What did lie ahead?
How would they adapt to this new language, this new life where as Germans they would be the minority?

Almost every report talks about storms and seasickness in the English Channel as the ship worked its way over to the Spanish coast. Those days of sea sickness must have been like hell on earth. I wonder how many women lay on their nauseous beds cursing, not just the husband who had led them into this nightmare, but her own foolishness in marrying him.

From there they sailed past Gibraltar and down the African coast to St Antoni. Here the ship stayed a few days to replenish stores. The men were allowed to go ashore and sample the local hospitality but the women and children were made to stay on board the ship. What a disappointment this must have been to the mothers who had to cope with the fast changing climate as well as their small children and babes in arms.

One cannot help but think of the three months on board that ship. There was little or no privacy for the family. The children seemed to be catered for part of the time in school lessons, while the women were occupied in cleaning their little bit of cabin space. That did not take all day so what was done to fill in the day?

Was it taken up in painting glorious pictures of the future or in lamenting the decision to migrate?

Washing was restricted to once a week, but how about the young mothers with suckling babes. Surely they did not have to wait until the allotted day to wash the stained baby clothes.

Very often the migrants left Germany in the middle of the northern winter. A month after leaving London they crossed the equator and sailed into the southern summer. They left home in winter clothing and now less than a month later they had to change into summer clothing. Clothing packed away in the hold of the ship. Not only was it summer but the temperature was higher than they had ever experienced and would remain as such forever more.

Another month later they rounded the Cape of Good Hope. Only a few ships stopped there. The rest waved it a greeting as they passed.
Pushed along by the roaring forties they sailed along the southern coast of Australia through Bass Strait and up the coast to Sydney.

At last they were in Sydney harbour, but were forced to wait three days on board before being allowed to disembark. This must have been a nightmare worse than any part of the voyage. So close yet so far.

Surely tempers were frayed. Surely frustrations were at a high. Impatient children must have caused even further aggravation.

Imagine how we feel when a plane lands and we are forced to wait. We have only been in the air for a few hours.

These families, these mothers, had been in this environment for nearly four months and at last they see a destination. They see it but they can’t have it.

“ Wir sind kinder des Vaterlandes. Sie gaben alle und kamen, daß wir genießen konnten, was sie nur über geträumt hatten.”

“We are children of the fatherland. They gave all and came that we might enjoy what they had only dreamt about.”

They wait. They wait and they wait.

Finally they begin to disembark. Not mothers and children first; they are only allowed to enter the new land when their new master is there to accept them.

There could have been no time of greater joy and thanksgiving than when the mothers could finally step onto dry land with their children.

The journey at last is over.

But no, it is not.

After a short rest and a meal the next stage and the most arduous in some cases, begins.

They all have at least a day’s travel ahead. For some as much as twenty eight days of travel lie ahead.

They have time to sightsee in Sydney and do some shopping, if they have any money left.

The master takes them home for lunch. Now this is something new. The master actually takes his servant family home to eat with his family. Can we imagine the awe when their master takes them up Dulwich Hill to see his house? For us of the lower class, when invited to the home of a higher class, expect and accept as natural to be invited into the lounge and dining hall. We accept without gratitude whatever we are offered. We go to dinner and BBQs with the boss.
Never have these peasant class people been allowed to enter the house of the master, yet here we find the master giving them lunch as though they were gentry. For us, one hundred and seventy years later, these German migrants ‘are’ gentry

A classless society yet a society full of class. How does one handle it?

Can we really understand the dilemma for the wives as they stood on that wharf? The manager was there organising the trip, the men loading the wagons.

Can we really understand the confusion that each man was experiencing? In Germany the master spoke and people acted. Suddenly the master speaks and the people discuss. The men call their master Mr Walker or Boss or just plain old Bill.

Never in their lives have they seen men not bow to their master. Never in their lives have they seen men not immediately respond to the word of their master. Never before have they seen such friendship, albeit a little strained, between a man and his master. 

The shock of this intimacy must have been beyond belief for both husband and wife.

In time the wagons were loaded and all was ready to move.

Finally the wagons are loaded and all in readiness for the journey to the new home.

“The women will ride in the wagons with the children.”
Hey! hold on a minute:

“I am a woman. I am the worker. You are the master. I am the lower class and must surely walk as I did in Germany. I am a woman.

No. The lady – he called me a lady – will ride while the man walks or rides a horse.

The man will ride a horse! In Germany only the master rode a horse.”
There were still more problems. The Germans could not speak English and the guide could not speak German. The interpreter had gone home and they were on their own. In minutes, not days or weeks, a new language had to be learned and understood. There was no language school. There was no second language choice. It was learn English and learn it NOW.

On the ship they experienced a change of diet, but now their diet was to change altogether.
They could now eat meat three times a day with vegetables. There was no black bread but they could eat white bread, as much as they could eat.

Finally they arrived at their new home. Finally the mother could put her babe into a comfortable and safe crib. Finally she could launder the stained baby clothes. Finally she could begin to make a home for her family.

“ Wir sind kinder des Vaterlandes. Sie gaben alle und kamen, daß wir genießen konnten, was sie nur über geträumt hatten.”

“We are children of the fatherland. They gave all and came that we might enjoy what they had only dreamt about.”

The English founded New South Wales but the Germans made a huge contribution to its prosperity.

The English selected the land and provided the money but the Germans took the land and made it productive.

The English planted the vines but the Germans made them produce the quality grapes that produced the fine wines to export.

The English discovered the plains but the Germans with their patience and determination discovered how to make the plains produce the wheat and other cereal crops to export and make our nation prosperous.

The English founded the towns and cities but it was the Germans who established many of the industries on which the towns prospered.

These early German migrants to New South Wales gave their all, including their names, that we might have a life they only dreamed about.

Each and every one of us can look back with pride and say aloud:

“ Wir sind kinder des Vaterlandes. Sie gaben alle und kamen, daß wir genießen konnten, was sie nur über geträumt hatten.”

“We are children of the fatherland. They gave all and came that we might enjoy what they had only dreamt about.”

The Need was Here – Bring the Germans

Australia was first settled by Europeans in 1788. It was an interesting arrangement, having been established as a goal for British and Irish convicts. To provide a guard for these unfortunate people the British sent a military guard plus a number of free people to provide the support such a penal settlement would need. The military officers sent out were not the cream of British service officers and most of the civilian support were the unwanted of British society.
Arthur Phillip is believed to have been a semi-retired English naval officer who had fallen out with the hierarchy. Among the civilian people was William Wentworth who had thrice been guilty of highway robbery. Being a surgeon and the son of a noble family he was enticed to migrate as a surgeon for the penal colony. Wentworth was later to play a valued role in the migration and settlement of Germans in New South Wales. Another officer of the guard was John Macarthur, a cunning character of questionable scruples who is credited with founding the wool industry in Australia. He also was paramount in establishing the wine industry and as we will see later, was the initiator of German migration to New South Wales.

By 1800 the settlement had expanded to include free settlers. Some of these settlers were ex-soldiers while many were former officers of the original guard. There was also a sprinkling of ex-convicts who for various reasons had been given a type of parole.

The former officers and others who had came out had been granted land selections in all parts of the colony. They had large holdings of land with no manpower to enable proper use of the land.
Initially they relied on convicts assigned to them. However with the cessation of convict transportation in 1841 there was an acute manpower shortage. The ex-convicts would not stay on the isolated properties of their masters for one day longer than was necessary.

The explorer Ludwig Leichhardt was living in Sydney at this time. He had travelled the colony extensively in his search for botanical items. He noted not only the manpower problems of the squatters but also the fertility of the soil. He became alarmed at the many fertile properties lying unproductive because the owner could not pay the wages demanded when he could get workers..

Wilhelm Kirschner was a German business man in Sydney in the 1830s and 40s. He was also a friend of Ludwig Leichhardt and an entrepreneurial type of man. As he listened to Leichhardt he could see the potential as well as the needs of the pastoralists. As a result, he canvassed strongly to have German migrants allowed to come in and fill this void.

There was an interesting development in 1834 in regard to German migrants. The Chief of Police in Hamburg wrote to London proposing that the problem of Hamburg's overcrowded prisons could be solved by transporting convicts to New South Wales. Subsequently an agreement was worked out between the Hamburg Senate and the Australian Agricultural Commission, which was a London based company with the rights to a million acres in New South Wales. This company was desperately seeking farm labourers. In 1836 forty convicts were made ready for transportation. Under protest from the New South Wales Administration, the plan was vetoed by Lord Glenelg, the Secretary of State. It appears that colonial authorities in New South Wales had made it clear to London that they did not wish to become an international dumping ground for criminals. One can only ponder what might have been.

Another interesting development in the same year was that an ultra conservative religious group in Silesia known as the “Old Lutherans” made application to migrate to New South Wales. The New South Wales administration rejected their application on the grounds that it considered them trouble makers and it had enough problems with its convict population. These “Old Lutherans” migrated to South Australia in 1839 and became the backbone of the South Australian German community.

In 1849 Kirschner arranged the migration of some 600 migrants. Most of these came from the Rhineland and were associated with the wine industry. However, 104 were shepherds from Silesia.
The majority of the people from the Rhineland went to the Hunter Valley and later moved north and west into New England, Western Plains and Pillage regions.

It appears that some if not all the 104 from Silesia travelled down the Hume Corridor as far as Albury.

Another group arrived in 1860 to settle in the Illawarra districts around Shoalhaven Bay. In time the majority of these Germans settled around Albury and along the Murray River.

The British Government was not happy to have migrants other than British come to the colony. It was still brooding over having been outwitted in regard to the German convicts and the colony had not had a happy relationship with the Irish migrants who had come out.

In fact there had been a number of societies established in England to entice English people of poor social standing to migrate to uphold the glory of England and find themselves a new life with new opportunity.

The New South Wales administration influenced by men like Macarthur, Kirschner and Leichhardt saw a greater opportunity for the success of the colony by looking toward the European continent

Finally Britain relented, but in doing so it set some very strict conditions regarding free immigrant workers into the Australian colonies from foreign countries:

· There could be no migration from any European country of persons with similar skills to those held by Englishmen.
· Prior to migration they were required to ensure they had no debt in Germany and that they had no criminal records or other reason that might be negative in their desire to migrate. This was done with a notice published in the local press and on village notice boards.

· All migrants must be married couples. No single men and definitely NO single women could be brought in.
 
By now the wealthy landholders in New South Wales had developed a liking for a dry wine with their meals. To satisfy their taste buds they had planted grape vines and tried to make their own wine. In an attempt to improve the quality and to produce it in profitable quantities, they set out to obtain the services of the best of vineyard workers. The best wine makers and wine yard workers in the world were believed to be the vinedressers, wine makers and coopers of the Rhineland Wine was not produced in England and therefore it had no people with skills in vine dressing, wine making or vineyard maintenance.

So began the mass migration of the kinder des Vaterlandes to whom we can look with pride as not only our ancestors but the men and women who made a huge contribution to making this fair land what it is today.
The Contracts

Before we begin to talk about the migration stories we ought to stop and look at the contracts. Every German migrant brought out by an agent had a contract either with the employer or with the government.

There were Germans who arrived unexpectedly as ship’s crew and “forgot” to leave with their ship. Others arrived in other states and filtered into New South Wales. Yet others paid their own way out and took their chances at achieving their life’s dream, whatever it may have been. However, the vast majority came out under contract between the 1820s and 1860s.

The contract was to work for the employer for a period of two, three or five years. The length of the contract varied with employer and the type of work involved. Macarthur employed his people under a five year contract. Kirschner offered those going into the vine industries a two year contract while some who went into general farming employ were placed on a three year contract.

Not all those brought out went into the employment of others. William Wentworth sponsored a number of employees to whom he sublet areas of his land.

Young people were brought out to work as shepherds on a one year contract.

There were two classes of migrant:

Assisted: where the fares were met by the employer.

Unassisted: where the migrant met his own fares.
In some instances the fares were met by the employer and repaid over the period of the contract. This latter arrangement was common in Queensland but seems to have been the exception in New South Wales. In rare instances the New South Wales government paid the fares.

This fare paying arrangement was not as simple as it might appear. The employer paid the fare from the port of embarkation, being either Hamburg or London to Sydney. The intending migrant paid his own fare from his home village to the port of embarkation. If he did not have the money to meet the fare, the agent paid it and was repaid from the migrant’s wages over the period of the contract.

The fares paid were for the man, his wife and children under the age of fourteen years. In some cases the migrant had to pay the fare for all children. However the agent often paid this fare and it was repaid over the time of the contract.
Children over fourteen years of age were considered as employable and were engaged either on separate contract or as part of the contract for the parents.

Those under contract were paid a wage of between fifteen and twenty pounds a year based on skills.
In almost every instance the wife gained work of a domestic nature and was paid a wage of between ten and fifteen pounds per year. This employment was not included in the contract for the husband and was only initiated after the family had arrived and settled into their new home.
A number of German migrants came out to take up land selection. This was generally done through the agent and the land was leased from a selector who was already well established. For example William Wentworth brought a number of migrants out and leased parts of his land to them. The norm seems to have been to lease it in twenty acre lots.
Where this happened the tenant paid, not a regular rental, but a portion of the yearly returns. It appears to have been a complex lease arrangement. In the first two years he paid 0.1% of the profit from his total yield. The third and fourth year he paid 0.125% of the total yield and on the fifth year he paid 0.167%.
After that he could buy the land at a pre-determined price per acre. To achieve this, the tenant had to pay one quarter in cash and the remainder over five years at 6% interest.
The German migrant was in all instances provided with a house rent free for the duration of the contract. In addition he was provided with a cow, poultry, pig and in most cases a horse. Firewood was free and he was free to grow in a garden reserve whatsoever vegetables and flowers he choose. The family was also supplied with a weekly stock of flour, sugar, tea and coffee plus beef and mutton and some other grocery items.
Where it was necessary to build a house the materials were supplied free of charge.

Where the migrant was employed under hire, his hours were from six am to six pm six days a week with time off for breakfast, morning tea, lunch and afternoon tea.

It is interesting to note that the contracts stipulated that the family would attend Christian worship on Sunday. In a number of cases the sponsor included a clause that he would provide for a preacher where a large number of Germans were being employed or given land leases. Although many from the Rhineland were Catholic, a reasonable percentage was Protestant and these we can assume were Lutheran. Therefore it is not unreasonable to suspect that there may have been a number of small Lutheran congregations founded in the areas we are looking at. We do know that a Lutheran Church was built at Camden in 1850.
Schools were also provided where possible for the children under fourteen.

Overall, the contracts offered were appealing and promised families a better future. When they were accepted as migrants they sacrificed a family life at home that they might create for us a life that they could only dream about. 

Part Two

Europe in the 19th Century

Their Homeland

To come to understand why our ancestors left their homeland to come to New South Wales we need to look at the land they left.

Europe entered the 19th century at war. The French dictator, Napoleon, had plans to conquer the whole of Europe for France. As a result War, Famine, Pestilence and Death constantly travelled across the continent.

The Napoleonic wars had ceased in 1815, but Bismarck was aggressively expanding Prussia and territorial tensions were high. Young men across Europe were being prepared for war through conscription and the nations were continually on a war footing.

To add to this they had extreme famine. The potato blight that starved millions to death in Ireland was not confined to Ireland. The staple diet of the Irish poor was potatoes and that is why so many died but the blight also caused massive amounts of hunger in Europe as well.

Pestilence is not confined to humans, and in this period there was a disease of cattle which killed many cows through Europe. When the primary source of protein in the diet is cow’s milk the death of a family’s cow can be catastrophic.

Death was constant. The life expectancy of the average European when the factors of war famine and pestilence where included was significantly higher in Europe than in Australia at the same time. 

Australia was a harsh new country, but in many ways it was safer than what they where leaving.

We can begin to understand this as we look more closely at the geography and history of this part of Germany, Poland and Prussia during the 19th century
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Although the majority coming to New South Wales came from the Rhineland and to a lesser extent Silesia, they were classified as Germans by the English settlers. It was a simple means of identifying everyone of Northern European origin, if that was necessary. Perhaps it was necessary because they came in groups and settled in communities, thereby in part isolating themselves from the rest of the colonists.
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In South Australia they held to their customs, language and religion for more than a century after arrival. Thus in the Adelaide Hills we found men and women who had been born in Australia of Australian born parents who fluently spoke a Germanic language as late as the 1970s.

In the first half of the 19th century Germany was not a nation at all but a cluster of some four hundred states each with its own sovereign leader and government. They had a common bond in language only. They had different dialects. In some instances they spoke an entirely different native language. However, almost everyone spoke German in some form.
The first recorded group of German Migrants came to the Hunter Valley in New South Wales to work in the developing wine industry. They came from the Rhine Valley. 
The Rhine Valley is the heart of the German wine industry. Most of Germany's vineyards owe their existence to the Rhine.

It flows through a wide fertile valley past the Baden
 vineyards where the east facing slopes of the Haardt Mountains represent the most southerly of the Rhine wine regions. As it flows along from the mountains to the sea with its vineyards on either bank it is joined by a number of smaller rivers such as the Mosel also famous for its vineyards. It flows through some mountain districts such as the Taurus Mountains. This entire geography works together to make the Rhine Valley and Germany a great wine producing state. 

On the east side of the river is the Alsace region of France. At various times in history this has been a German territory so it has a close affinity to Germany.
Here, there are vast vineyards especially in the Vosges Mountain regions. 

Along the stretch of the river that forms a border with Switzerland we also find a number of vineyards. 

It is not surprising then that the wine growers of the Hunter Valley would look to this area to find its vine dressers, wine makers and others associated with the industry.

Why then would they leave this beautiful Rhine Valley to migrate thousands of miles across the sea to a land they had only heard about, a land that was known to all as a ‘prison in the south seas’.

The Rhine Land – Their Homeland
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The Rhine River was to the early tribal Celts a raging flow that began in the Rheinwaldhorn Glacier in the Swiss Alps. It flowed in a northerly direction for about 1,320 km until it emptied into the North Sea.
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The Rhine begins as a turbulent Alpine stream churning through deep gorges and fed by rivers and tributaries rising from the mountain until it becomes the Rhine at Reichenau. From there is continues its rapid journey until it reaches the Lake of Constance. Here it slows a little but is still a torrent as it journeys westward through mountains and over spectacular waterfalls to Basel
.

At Basel it turns north and enters a flat-floored valley lying between the Vosges Mountains on the west and the Black Forest on the east. It joins the Main River at Mainz where it finds a climate that is less severe compared to its alpine sources. It then enters into a set of scenic valleys as its crosses the deep, steep sided Rhine Gorge through the Rhineland Plateau and the Rhenish Slate Mountains. This picturesque gorge, with terraced vineyards and castle-lined cliffs, has often been called the "heroic Rhine," renowned in history and romantic literature. It is complete with fairy tale castles and vineyards snuggled in the overhanging rock face.

After Bonn, it becomes the Lower Rhine and flows into the North German Plain and then into the Netherlands before it empties into the North Sea. As it enters the Netherlands it crosses a wide, marshy plain and a delta region forming into separate channels. Much of this area is at or below sea level, but dyking has contributed to its becoming one of the most densely populated and important economic regions on the continent.
The river is navigable for small craft for some 800 kilometres from the North Sea to Basel in Switzerland. Ocean going vessels can travel as far as Cologne. 
The river is connected by a series of canals to other European Rivers thereby creating a link between the North Sea and the Black Sea.
Later we will look at the enticements provided by the wine growers of New South Wales but first we need to see if there were any factors at home that might have inspired these vine dressers and wine makers to travel so far afield. There surely had to be some factors other than the opportunities offered in the new land.

Life in the Rhineland

Before we talk about the history let us look at how these people lived in their little villages on the Rhine.
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Cattle, horses, pigs, chickens and whatever else the farmer used to support his family slept under the same roof as the family members who tended them and depended on them for their food and support.

Separation between livestock and people only came in the very late 1800s or the early 1900s. After that the family lived on the next floor up and slept one floor further up.

Almost everyone in the village was classified as a farmer.
The land owner was usually the baron or some other nobleman. Few were businessmen as we know them. Professional people like doctors and lawyers all had their own few farm animals to tend.

The people all lived in the village and went out each day to work their small plot of land or to shepherd the cattle and sheep or goats for the village.
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A shepherd would have as many as twenty or thirty animals to care for. He would walk from house to house each morning collecting his herd or flock. He then led them out into the pasture lands where he would spend the day watching over them. At evening he would return the animals to their owners to be bedded down for the night. The shepherd was a highly trained professional animal keeper. He had intimate knowledge of the characteristics of the animals he tended. He had little beyond the basic veterinary knowledge pertaining to the livestock in his care. To quote a biblical reference, “The shepherd knew his flock and the flock knew their shepherd.”
The farmer would enter through the large double doors of the barn/house leading his team of bullocks. Only the rich could afford draft horses to pull their ploughs.
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Every day and night throughout the year the open fire was kept burning in the centre of the living quarters at the back of the house and thick smoke would billow out of the doors as he entered from a hard day spent in the fields. For
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This large open fire sent smoke throughout the house. The houses in Germany had no chimney and no protection from the heat of the flames.
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Smoke was a good thing. It cleaned the air of bacteria and drove away insects. It dried the crops that were stored in the loft high in the rafters of the house and cured meats that hung from hooks above the living area.
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It also caused health problems and a sort of "black lung" disease that killed people long before the end of their normal lifespan.
In those times the beds in Germany, England and all over Europe were shorter than they are today because people slept sitting up to keep their lungs clear of the soot and grime that accumulated in the house during the day when it was closed up, all the family being in the fields working or at school. Hence a bed in the 19th century Europe was about half the length of a modern Australian bed.

The house was built with a grass roof, so they were always glad of a cool damp day when the flames would be low and cinders few. The normal life of a grass roof was sixty years.
The family used their dog not as a pet, but as a source of power. Dog-driven grinding mills for corn or wheat can still be seen in many of these old barn/houses today.

In some families the dog was also used as a draught animal. It would not be uncommon to see the family dog pulling a small cart through the village.
In the stalls along the sides of the barn/house, the cattle were kept lined up lengthwise, to follow the walls of the barn/house. This kept the cattle smaller than we are accustomed to seeing, because the slope of the roofline would prevent them from growing larger.

History of the Rhineland

In early historic times the German tribes settled on both sides of the lower Rhine while the Celts settled along its upper reaches.

Julius Caesar conquered it in fifty three to fifty five BC.

The German states (more like tribes) took control of the north while the Roman Empire held control of the south and east.

When the Western Roman Empire disintegrated around 400 AD, the Rhine was settled along its entire length by Germanic tribes. This became the base for the Kingdom of the Franks
 followed by the Carolingian Empire
.

Initially the whole Rhine River basin was part of Germany within the Holy Roman Empire. In 793 Charlemagne tried to develop a plan that would connect the North Sea to the Black Sea, but failed.

In 870, the Rhine returned to the Holy Roman Empire
 and became its centre of power.

The Thirty Years' War that ended in 1648 saw the separation of the Rhine headwaters and delta area from Germany. This delta area later became Holland while France gained the eastern side of the river. Throughout history the state boundaries along the river have changed many times.
In 1815 at the end of the Napoleonic wars the Congress of Vienna was drawn up establishing new state boundaries throughout Europe.

Prussia received a large area of the left bank regions of the north western Rhine lands. This was done at the instigation of England to ensure France did not have ready access to the new state of The Netherlands.

These German states were to be of vital importance because they included the Ruhr Valley, centre of Germany's fledgling industrialisation and particularly of the arms industry.

The signing of the Congress also saw Belgium come into existence as a kingdom in its own right.

In 1826 Prussian King William I, with the aid of his prime minister Otto Von Bismarck, took control of all the German States except Austria and the Prussian empire began to take shape.

Prussia was now the dominant power in Germany. However all was not at rest. The first half of the 19th century saw a prolonged struggle in Germany between the liberals, who wanted a united federal Germany under a democratic constitution, and the conservatives who wanted to keep Germany as a patchwork of weak independent states.

In 1832, the first steam boat service from the North Sea to Basel was established. 

In 1848 the liberals got their chance when revolutions broke out across Europe.
Between 1845 and 1846 economic conditions deteriorated badly. While historians still argue over the reasons, the crop failures in most European states can be attributed as one major cause. If some 70% of working-class money goes into food, it is not difficult to see that a crop failure will lead to shortages, forcing prices and unemployment up.

Many farm workers left their farms to seek work in the cities where the industrial revolution was gathering speed. This made the overall situation worse. To add to this the average working class male was very often nomadic uneducated and tended towards violence. Corruption was rife in high places and this reduced faith in the leaders. Finally the textile industry in Germany was in depression from 1844 to 1847.
An attempt was made to create a German constitution to bring all states under one parliament. However King Frederick William IV of Prussia who was offered the crown refused it.

In the Franco-German War of 1870-71 Prussia took Alsace back from France but France regained it after World War I. 

We can easily see that the agents going to Germany to seek suitable migrants would not have had much difficulty demonstrating to them the instability of their home land with its ongoing wars and sufferings. In the new land they could offer ‘milk and honey’ forever.

Part Three

History of German Immigration

 Into New South Wales

Before Phillip

Australia might well claim to be a former English colony. Captain Cook may well have taken possession of this great south land for his English King. Twenty years later the parliament of his English King created a prison in Botany Bay.

All of this is true, and the English did establish their colony that one hundred and twenty years later became a nation. The English opened up the land but history reveals that it was the Germans they called on to make that land the food bowl that it has been. It was the Germans they used to create the industry to support the English.

Germans had an involvement in Australia from the time of the first explorers. The Dutch employed German sailors to man the ships of their Dutch East India Company that transported the spices and other product from the East Indies region (Indonesia) back to Holland and Northern Europe. We know from history that these ships often landed on the north west of Australia.

The captain of the Heemskerck in Abel Tasman’s fleet on his journey to discover Tasmania was Captain Yde T'Jercxzoon Holleman. He was from Jever in northwest Germany. He is reputed to have actually landed at a place near Hobart on 2nd December 1642.
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Johann Wäber was an illustrator on Cook’s third journey of exploration. He is credited with having produced the many drawings that aroused the European interest in the islands of the South Seas. Another sailor was Heinrich Zimmermann from Wißloch in Germany's Pfalz region. He is said to have gone ashore at Adventure Bay on Bruny Island in Tasmania in January 1777. He wrote a book on his travels in 1781 where he names several other Germans who made up the crew and also landed with him. 

The first German migrants to Australia came with the first fleet. On board were both German convicts held in English prisons and free citizens who came out as employees of the state.

One of the free migrants was Augustus Theodor Henry Alt who was appointed as the first surveyor of land in New South Wales in 1787. Alt played an important part in the planning of the township of Sydney. He is considered to have founded the settlement of Parramatta. We can blame a German for the layout of Sydney or we can praise him for its fascinating mystique of winding streets and alleyways.

Captain Arthur Phillip although an English sea captain, was the son of Jakob Philipp. Jakob was a language teacher in London but was born in Frankfurt.

After Phillip

Philipp Schäffer from Hessen
 arrived in 1790 and was one of the first persons to be given land for free cultivation. On this land he established the first vineyard in the colony. He had been a lieutenant in a Hessian regiment that was hired from Germany by Britain's King George III to fight against the Americans in the War of Independence. He became an alcoholic and died in the colonial poorhouse.

The first Austrian arrived in September 1791 on the ‘Active’. He was the convict Barnard Walford, an engraver originally from Vienna, who had been convicted of stealing a basket of washing in Pettycoat Lane after moving to London. Several convicts in NSW were German-speakers who had migrated to Britain looking for work, and who were sent to Australia after committing crimes in England. Walford was sent to the penal settlement on Norfolk Island, and after doing his time he married an Irish woman. They went to Hobart where they became respected citizens.

Another convict who came out in 1792 was Joseph Marcus. He was a German born in Mannheim
 who moved to England. He arrived as a convict, having been sentenced in Staffordshire for breaking and entering.

The Austrian botanical artist Ferdinand Lukas Bauer was chosen by Sir Joseph Banks to accompany Matthew Flinders on ‘HMS Investigator’ during his circumnavigation and survey of the Australian continent from 1801-1803. Bauer made about 2000 sketches and drawings on this journey. A parrot species was named after him and Flinders named Cape Bauer near Streaky Bay in South Australia after him.

The astronomer Carl Ludwig Rümker is also credited as having established one of the earliest vineyards in Australia. He was on one of the first fleets to reach the colony.

These men all played key roles in the early development of New South Wales.
It is believed that in 1810 the New South Wales administration using German State money built a German Lutheran Church in Sydney as a place for German Lutherans to worship. It has been suggested that this church was built somewhere in the Rocks area. I am told that there were a number of churches built there for small nationalities to worship in their won language. Any sign of the church has long since disappeared. My logic tells me that if the administration built, using convict labour, a church for German Lutherans there must have been a reasonable number of Germans in Sydney town in 1810.

Where did they come from?

What did they do for a living? 

Where did they live?

During the Napoleonic wars some German noblemen sold the sons of their peasant workers to the British to fight as British soldiers against Napoleon. When the war ended in 1804, those wanting to stay in England were given free land grants in New South Wales by way of reward for their services.

The Camden Valley Migrants

Situated some forty kilometres south west of Sydney is found the Camden Valley, first discovered in 1804 when some explorers came across a number of cattle that had strayed from the Sydney settlement some ten years earlier.

 They called the area Cowpastures but in the early 1800s John Macarthur took up a large land selection and it became known as Macarthur country.

The region centres on the cities of Camden, Campbelltown and Picton.

It is here that Australia’s agricultural and pastoral industries began their life.

It was also to here that the first large scale emigration began from Wurttemberg in the Rhineland in about 1817 and continued in spasmodic bursts throughout the 19th century and beyond..
These Germans were vine dressers and wine makers. We have already acknowledged that Phillip Schaffer, a migrant on one of the first fleets, established a vineyard.

Did he come from the Rhineland?

Due to the lack of a number of nutritional and other basic diet foods, Sydney entered the 19th century with problems from scurvy and malnutrition. Doctor Redfern was appointed by the Governor to try and establish its cause and find a treatment. His solution was the daily consumption of one pint (half litre) of wine with added lime juice. Hence Australia’s wine industry developed to keep the convicts alive, not to keep the powerful happy.
In 1818 Redfern planted a vineyard at 'Campbell fields' (now Campbelltown) in Sydney’s south west.  We can assume that there must have been some trial and error in the planting of his commercial crop. Perhaps the government had brought some German vine dressers out to help establish the vineyards.

This we do know:

John Macarthur and his sons went to Germany in 1815 seeking information on grapes suitable for wine production. He spent some eighteen months in Europe. Thus it can be assumed from other references, that he not only brought grape vine cuttings back; but also the people to tend them and produce the wine. John Macarthur had a vision of Australia becoming a wine exporting nation even at that early date.

The shepherd Johann Christoff Pabst was one of four shepherds hired in Germany by the Australian Agricultural Company in 1825. The Australian Agricultural Company was a Macarthur company holding many thousands of acres of land in New South Wales. 

As well as the vine dressers there were four shepherds and about 700 Saxon merino
 sheep brought to Australia by Macarthur. 
Sir John Jamison employed Mr F.A.Meyer as a vigneron on his Penrith winery in 1833. Meyer had been in the colony a number of years having established a reputation as a master of grape tending.

In 1835 Macarthur applied for and was given permission to bring six German families from the Rhineland to Camden to tend his grape trellis. They were contracted to work for Macarthur for five years. Macarthur paid their fares from Germany to Sydney and paid them fifteen pounds ($30) per year plus domestic livestock such as fowls, cows and pigs plus basic food supplements such as meat and wheat.

In 1838 they brought out another six families from Hessen state in Germany for the cultivation of their vineyard at Camden. These people came out on the ‘Kinnear’.

Caspar Flick, Georg Gerhard and Johann Wenz were from Hattenheim, while Johann Justus and Johann Stein from Erbach, and Friedrich Seckold were from Mittelheim.

The families appreciated the new freedom they found in the colony, the abundance of food and their much improved living conditions. This was often expressed in letters sent home to relatives in Germany.

The migration of this first group of Germans almost did not eventuate because while waiting in London for their departure on the “Kinnear”, they developed cold feet. However a letter to them from the Austrian botanist and diplomat Karl von Hügel, who had came out some years earlier, gave them the confidence to continue.

John Macarthur, the father was responsible for bringing many Germans to New South Wales as both vineyard workers and as shepherds. It appears that both he and his son, John, had a good relationship with the Germans. However this does not seem to have been the case with his other son.

John Macarthur’s son William had problems with the German migrants. He had grown up with his father employing a large number of English migrants and in particular convicts and ex-convicts. Macarthur was used to a tradition that when the boss spoke the men acted without question. The Germans were not like that. They had been free men in Germany and they had special skills that he needed. They did not hesitate to let him know both these facts.

Hence as soon as their contract finished William dismissed them. They left his employ to either venture out on their own or into the employ of another settler.

One notable exception was that of the three Stein brothers. Johann came out in 1835 to work for Macarthur at Camden. He remained with William after his contract finished. Macarthur and Johann appear to have maintained a love-hate relationship over many years until Johann’s death.

His brother Jakob Stein arrived in 1843. Jacob moved into the house recently vacated by his brother Johann. Johann had by now moved to Parramatta where he seemed to still be in the employ of Macarthur.

Jakob quickly settled into the new life and made himself the appointed spokesman for all Germans in matters of a political nature.

Joseph arrived in 1849. Joseph appears to have had a very short fuse. He was involved in one or more altercations whilst on board ship. As a result he had breached the terms of his contract and his sponsor was not prepared to accept him. Johann met the ship when it docked and he paid Joseph’s sponsor out with 29 pounds and then arranged employment at Camden with Macarthur.
By now Johann had his own farm of 100 acres.

In the years from when the first vinedressers and wine makers arrived from Germany, a number of the settlers in the Camden Valley employed Germans. It appears they were all brought out under contract.
It would appear that a sizeable German community was created in Camden because a Lutheran church was built there before 1850. This is in spite of the majority of Rhineland Germans being Catholic.
In 1843 the Macarthur’s and other Camden land owners brought out several more families from the Rhineland. These German workers were held in high regard. This was in spite of William Macarthur’s dislike of the German workers.
Later in 1852 another twelve families arrived on the "Reihersteig". Not all of these families stayed permanently at Camden, and some may have settled in the Hunter

In 1853 the Hund family migrated as assisted migrants under the Bounty scheme from Neckarhausen in Baden to Campbelltown. He was a vine dresser sponsored by Sir Thomas Livingstone Mitchell. However it does appear that the family might not have gone direct to Campbelltown as their place of living in 1855 was Crown Street in Sydney. Their address in 1857 was Campbelltown. Here we see an example of a sponsor not employing his family as per the original contract. Philip Hund’s occupation was always recorded as ‘labourer’.

In later years the family moved to Penrith.

Johann Joseph Wedesweiler and his wife Sophia together with their two sons, Johann Oswald and Bernhard Ludwig arrived in 1855 from Winkle, Nassau in Germany to settle in Camden near the Mulgoa Forest. He was a vine dresser and vigneron although his trade in Germany was a cooper.
Johann and Bernhard became builders in the area and are credited with building one or more of the historic Anglican churches in the area.
Whereas most migrants came via London, Hamburg or Rotterdam, this family came through Belgium. They travelled on the ‘Chatteaux Wattel’ from Antwerp, Belgium, arriving in Sydney on the 6th of March 1855.
They lived in the district for about 20 years before moving to Penrith. They later moved back into the Camden Valley settling at Werombi and then Silverdale.

The Bruckhauser family who also came out on the ‘Chatteaux Wattel’ established a vineyard at Elderslie within a few years of arrival. In later years they also owned vineyards at Orchard Hills near Penrith.

Franz Melchior Muller came on the “Peru” in 1855. He appears to have come out with his parents to work in vineyards in the Hunter region. Somehow he managed to be in the Camden area by 1856 when he lost his heart to Agnes Justus. From there he moved south to Tarlo near Goulburn where he purchased land and continued farming.

Johann and Eva Klein arrived in Australia in 1853 from Phalboxh Germany as assisted migrants considered "useful to the colony". Johann was a wine maker. They departed Hamburg on the 20th Nov 1852 on the "TRITON” arriving in Sydney on the 29th of April 1853. They settled in Campbelltown and worked on John Macarthur’s farm as a vine dresser and farmer. In 1872 they moved to a property on Goobang Creek in Wellington Rd Parkes

Johann’s brother, Johann George was a vinedresser from Wurttemberg in 1855. He worked on Mark Lodge in Dog Trap Rd (Now Woodville Rd) Parramatta from 1879.

There seems to have been a reasonable sized German community established in the Camden valley between 1817 or earlier and 1850. However this community seems to have been rather scattered from Campbelltown through Camden and down to Picton.

By 1860 the whole community seems to have moved on to the Hunter Valley and other places throughout New South Wales.
One family that seems to have come out and stayed around is that of John George Vock, his wife Magdalena and their children Christian and Christina. They arrived on the Johann Caesar 1853. They were brought out by Edwin Hickey in the Hunter Valley. However they never went to the Hunter but were taken to St Mary’s Towers in Douglas Park. This estate was owned by Major Thomas Mitchell. The story goes that Thomas Mitchell picked them up at the ship and took them in a dray to his vineyard. Common talk is that Major Mitchell did not like Germans and so they were probably this was the only family that he sponsored. In fact, he probably did not sponsor them but made some financial arrangement with Hickey at the wharf.

In time the family settled at Pheasants Nest in 1875.
The Hume Corridor

The Hume Corridor runs from Sydney to Melbourne by crossing the Great Dividing Range south of Camden and following its western slopes, to cross the Murray River at Albury and to cross the range again just north of Melbourne. Our interests are in the stretch south of Camden to Albury.
Today it is an open freeway for most of the journey of eight to ten hours Melbourne to Sydney. The first settlers took five weeks to get to Albury from Sydney. Today we take five hours to complete the same journey.
The name originates from the exploratory journey of Hamilton Hume and William Hovel in 1824.

Hamilton Hume was an Australian born explorer born at Parramatta in 1797. His father was a convict supervisor who while Hamilton was very young received a grant of land at Appin near Campbelltown.

Hamilton was a venturous sort of lad who by the age of 17 had explored the country as far south as Berrima. In later years he ventured further south to Yass. As a reward for his exploratory work he received several land grants in the Goulburn area.

In 1824 Governor Thomas Brisbane introduced Hamilton Hume to William Hovel.

William Hovel was an English born sea captain who had settled in Sydney in 1819. He too was an amateur who had explored some areas to the south of Sydney. He was not an experienced bushman like Hume but was an excellent navigator.

Brisbane wanted to get some positive information in regard the rivers that seemed to run west of the great divide. He suggested to Hume and Hovel that they might combine their skills and try to get him some answers. His suggestion was that they try to connect Sydney to Spencer Gulf in South Australia.

After some debate the two venturers decided to head due south.

They set out from Hume’s property near the Lake George on the Goulburn Canberra road in October 1824.

It took them ten days to reach the Murrumbidgee River to find that it was in flood. They converted one of their carts into a floating raft by wrapping it in their tents.

The next ten days was hard going as they worked their way through the hills near Tarcutta and Holbrook. Then on the 16th November 1824 Hume saw this massive river that he named after himself. Another explorer Charles Sturt had already been on this same river and had recorded its name as the Murray.

From there they completed their journey to Melbourne. 

Of course none of these towns existed at that time. They grew as the settlers moved down the route laid by Hamilton Hume and his mate William Hovel.

Our interest is to establish how many of these settlers were German.

As the Germans who came to the Camden Valley finished their contracts they began to move on to better pastures. Many went north to the Hunter, but a number also moved down the Hume Corridor settling at various places along the way.

It seems they never actually settled in a group large enough to create a community. It was more a scattered German minority.

John George Goethe came from Rosenbach, Prussia, via London in about 1833. He took up the licence of the Royal Arms Hotel in Picton. George never spelt his name the same way twice, hence he is found on records as George Gatty, Geotty, and Geothe. He died in Picton in 1860.

George Goehte is interesting because he apparently married an English woman in London who died shortly after his arrival at Picton. Then, just three weeks after her arrival in Australia, he married an Irish lass some thirty years his junior.

Tahmoor House was built by an ex-convict named Edward Doyle in 1822 as a stopover place for travellers going south from Sydney.

On 1824 he sold the property to William Klensendorlffe, at German who had served in the British Navy and arrived free in the Colony in 1818. The explorers Hume and Hovell, spent a night a Klensendorlffe’s on their Southern expedition in October 1824. Klensendorlffe could afford a publican’s licence and was trading as an inn keeper by April 1825 when he came before the local Magistrate for serving liquor to convicts. Whether Klensendorlffe added to Doyle’s dwelling or started building afresh is not known. In a letter to the Colonial Secretary in 1829, Klensendorlffe stated that he had built a ‘a weatherboarded house’. He appears to have sold or moved from the property by 1829.

Another early settler to Picton was Christian Charles Louis Rumker. He was an assistant to the governor Sir Thomas Brisbane and was granted 1000 acres of land in recognition of his loyal service. However he does not appear to have stayed very long before returning to Germany.

One name that appears frequently and without strong reason is that of Andrew Ihle who seems to have owned the hotel at Picton. He was married there in 1859 at the age of 23 years.

From Picton we cross to the western slopes of the Great Dividing Range and come to Mittagong. A short drive from this city in the Southern Highlands is Joadja Creek. In 1855 this was a shale mine town that attracted the presence of the Bender family. Joseph was known as Augustus, and sometimes Augustin or Augustine, and was born on the “Helene” in Australian waters, but the ship’s record says he was born in Germany.

Baby Augustus arrived in Australia on the  18th of March 1853 with his parents Thaddaus Bernard  Bender and Mary Regina Frohnle together with their other children six year old Francis Martin Bender and four years old Willahmenia from Wuerttemberg.

Also on the ship were Mary Regina’s sister Maria Elisabetha and her husband Lorenz Joseph Schmidt.

A little further down the highway we find the Schardt, Siebertt and Knie families who ventured off the modern highway to settle in places like Captain’s and Monoglo Flats near Queanbeyan.

Further down the road we find the Melzer family who settled in Gundagai. Here again we see the union of German and Irish as Antoni Melzer married Mary Maroney in 1861 at Five Mile Creek . Today it is where the dog sits on the tuckerbox. Antoni was born in Garshwitz Germany.

Some moved to one side or the other of the corridor. Albert Bamgarten settled in Tumbarumba and in later years became a coach driver for Cobb & Co.
Another settler to Tumbarumba was Lorenz Wolter. He was a locvla brick maker and mason in about 1862.
One Johann Peter Fraunfelder was contracted to work on a two year contract at Kyeamba station near Wagga Wagga, just 100 kilometres North West of Albury. Peter came out on the “Beulah” in 1849.
Along the Hume Corridor we find one town where we need to stop and look for our German ancestors. Halfway between Sydney and Melbourne is the small town of Holbrook.
Holbrook began life as Ten Mile Creek. Later it was called Germantown until World War One. At this time a lot of places with German names were changed. Germantown was re-named Holbrook after a submarine captain.

The first settler in the area was a German born shepherd, Johann Pabst. He arrived in Australia in 1825 to work for Macarthur's Australian Agricultural Company in the Camden valley.

Ten years later having completed his contract with Macarthur, he and his Irish wife and two daughters moved down the corridor to Ten Mile Creek where he took up a selection of land.

In 1838 he found a roadside inn that was looking for a mine host. He took over the Woolpack Inn. Up to this time it was colloquially known as ‘The Grog Shop’ but it soon became known to travellers and locals as ‘The Germans”

In 1858 the town was officially named “Germantown”. Whether it was this colloquial name or because of an influx of German settlers is unclear.
Although it is difficult to gather much historical fact about the early German settlers in this area it does seem that Germantown was well know to Germans arriving in Sydney. There is more than one instance where a sailor jumped ship in Sydney and fled to Germantown in southern New South Wales to evade capture. One such sailor was Carl Waldemar Brachmann who jumped from the “Antuco" in 1911 and headed directly to the Murray region, stopping in Germantown and settling there for life
Albury and Riverina Districts

The Riverina of which Albury is the southern and largest city has a complex story of German migration. A large percentage, probably 50%, came across from South Australia while the rest drifted in from Sydney and Melbourne.

We have talked about Germans filtering all the way down the Hume Corridor from Camden to Albury. We have noted how a significant number stopped to rest and stay at places like Holbrook. Some also wandered east across into the mountain ranges while for others it was to the west over the range.

Melbourne had a large scale German migration in the 19th century. Those with a wander lust made their way north to eventually settle in Albury.

The Melbournians seemed to travel east toward Beechworth. The South Australians all hesitated at Walla Walla and branched out from there.

A typical example of how migrants drifted down the Hume Corridor is found in the case of Heinrich Conrad Drewes. Drewes first arrived in Brisbane in 1863. He settled for about seven years in the northern capital before ambling his way down to Albury where he lost his heart to Hannah Wheeler. They married and settled in the Albury district.

Then we have Heinrich Schubach and his wife Anna who set sail for Sydney in 1855 on board the Catteaux Wattel. Heinrich died on the voyage but Anna settled in Albury where Heinrich’s children, who had already migrated, were firmly established in life.

On 10th October 1857 the local catholic priest began to preach a percentage of his sermon in German. Such was the number of German Catholics living in the area. More than one third of the 600 population of Albury was German and the majority of these were Catholic.
 One of the families that came through Sydney was that of Christian Haeffner. He was a cooper in Baden but it seems he did not stay long in the Camden valley if he ever did get to there. He arrived in Sydney in 1852 and was found in the Albury area a short few months after that. It does seem his interest was more in gold prospecting than grape growing and he spent much of his time on the Victorian side of the border in Beechworth.

His brother William followed him in 1855.

When their contract at Kyeamba Station finished the Frauenfelder family moved south to Albury where they became pillars of the community.
Together with the families of Sebastian Schubach and Henry Rau they were among the first German families to arrive in Albury. All three families planted vineyards and so began the wine industry along the Murray.

Johann Peter Frauenfelder and his wife Margaretha Pfohler came to Australia on the “Beulah” in 1849 on contract to Mr. Walker who held the rights to Kyeamba Station between Tarcutta and Wagga Wagga. Both Peter
 and Margaretha had been previously married and were widowed with children. They married two days before leaving from GroBsachsen in October 1848.
Peter and Margaretha were impressed with their new home in the new land to such an extent that Peter persuaded his brothers Johann and Friedrich and Margaretha’s sister Katherina Barbara Pfohler to join them in Albury. His influence went beyond brothers and sisters to cousins such as Charles Frederick Frauenfelder.
The children of Peter and Margaretha were to become icons of Albury’s history. There was Margaretha’s daughter Genofeva Pfohler and Peter’s children:

· Barbara Katharina, who married Philip Helm of Schriesheim Baden and migrated to Albury in 1854
· Eva Elizabeth,who married Richard Carroll of Ireland. She died in Albury 1868 leaving four sons and five daughters.

· Margaretha married Philip Goebel of Kidderich Nassau. She died in 1854 leaving a son Charles Goebel who went to live with his Grandfather Johann Peter.
· Anna Maria, born 1833, married to John Molitor of Hesse, Homberg.
· Peter John
· John Peter born 1837 
· George Valentine who died before the family left Germany.
· Maria Elizabeth Theresia, born 8 October 1843 married Anton Keehammer of Baden
It is believed that all of these children migrated to Australia either with Peter and Margaretha or at some time during the next decade.

We read in John’s diary that his brother Peter drowned in 1872. He had married Phillipp Rau’s daughter Elizabeth Rau who became a widow with five children. 

Another family member who migrated was Philipp Helm and his wife Barbara Frauenfelder from Schrushiem, Baden. They came out on the “Victoria” berthing in Melbourne in 1854. One of their daughters married a French migrant named Andrew Joseph Tulau.
In later years John Frauenfelder moved out to Lavington where he established orchards specializing in the growing of prunes.

Georg Frauenfelder and Anna Maria Schubach migrated to Albury and in later years their son Joseph Henry Frauenfelder, became the licensee of the Turks Head Hotel. The Frauenfelder family also held the licence for the Town Hall Hotel in Albury.
The South Australian Germans

The Germans from South Australia began their trek across to the Riverina districts in the 1860s.

These Germans were very different from those coming via Sydney. They had left Germany for religious reason and lived very much within their religious practices. They had formed separate communities in Germany and on arrival in South Australia had maintained this community life style.

They were all farmers. In South Australia they had grown in numbers until the availability of land had become a problem.

In 1861 the New South Wales government had passed the Robertson Land Act. This allowed the opening up of land to family units on payment of a small deposit and the remainder in instalments over a prescribed period of time. Each family member could claim a minimum of 40 acres and a maximum of 320 acres. This meant that a family of Father, Mother and two children could claim as much as 1280 acres.

Mr Schultz, a South Australian community leader, was asked to go over to the Riverina area to seek out sufficient land for 700 to 800 families. He selected an area that was known as Dight’s Forest. The area had originally been a pastoral lease held by John Dight who took up his selection shortly after the journey of Hume and Hovel from Sydney to Melbourne in 1824. Dight had named his property 'Jindera' and Schultz adopted that name for the district where his German friends would settle.

The first 60 families left the Barossa Valley in 1867 and after six weeks they arrived at Jindera.

They brought all their worldly possession by German Wagon. A German Wagon was used by the early South Australian Germans for transport work. These were a wagon exclusive to the German settlers in South Australia. The wagon had no springs, was made on a heavy hardwood and needed two horses to pull it. The sides were slanted and it had no tail gate or front barrier. The adults sat on a seat near the front while the children sat inside the wagon amongst the cargo. They carted everything: livestock, produce and household groceries in the one cart at the one time.
On their arrival at Jindera they found a wattle and daub cottage. This cottage had been there for a number of years. It was used by the shepherds employed by John Dight. The occupant of the hut may have been a German who came via Sydney under the Kirschner programme. It is known that Kirschner brought out a number of shepherds from Silesia and that they were employed by pastoralists as far south as Albury.

In a wattle and daub Cottage, the walls were made of saplings or branches and the gaps filled in with mud and cow manure. The kitchen was in the centre of the building with a fire place on which all the cooking was done. The rooms all opened out into the kitchen.

The South Australian Germans built slab huts using local bush timber sawn into poles and planks.

In a slab hut the roof extended out in the front and back to make a verandah. The back verandah served as the laundry and a store place for selected farm equipments. The dog usually slept chained up under the back verandah.

Another group of fifty six people in fourteen wagons and two spring carts with a number of farm animals travelled across from South Australia in 1868. They went from the Barossa down to a place near the Murray and then followed its course to Albury. At the same time they had made arrangements for paddle steamers to transport food stuff and machinery that was impractical to bring in their little convoy.

It is interesting that the majority of Germans in South Australia had come from Silesia and Saxony. Yet those who came to Albury in this first group were Wends.

The Wends, known in Germany as the Sorbs, are a minority Slavic people. They homeland is concentrated in an area known as Lusatia in the eastern corner of Germany that borders the Czech Republic.

Their history goes back more than a thousand years, but they became Lutheran during the Reformation period. In the 19th century the area of Lusatia straddled the political borders of three German territories. The northern part centred on the city of Cottbus, was part of the Prussian province of Brandenburg, and the southern part centred on the city of Bautzen, was part of the kingdom of Saxony. After 1815 a section across the centre of Lusatia was added to Silesia.

Although Lusatia was part of the territory of German states, the Wends had their own language, cultural customs and traditional dress. Both the German and Wendish languages were used in Lusatia. However, the German language was used for all official business.

Famine in the late 1840s caused many to emigrate, and encouraging letters back home from the significant number of Wends who had gone to South Australia, greatly increased the migration rate.

In South Australia they settled alongside Germans. Here they eventually stopped using their Wendish language, because their German neighbours couldn't speak Wendish. Furthermore, most British-Australians thought they were Germans.

This group of Wends took five and a half weeks to arrive at their destination. On arrival the town’s people of Albury gave them a rousing welcome before they moved on to establish a settlement at a place they called Ebenezer. These Germans were rather attached to their past and Ebenezer was the district in South Australia from whence they started their journey. In later years the name was changed to Walla Walla.

It was the initial desire of these South Australian migrants to take up land on the Victorian side of the Murray at Chiltern. However the procrastination of the Victorian government caused them to seek other alternatives. Meanwhile the New South Wales government, through its Albury Lands Office, found them a grant of 5000 acres at a place they named Ebenezer.

Other German families from South Australia soon followed and by 1872 there were German settlements at Jindera, Bethel, Ebenezer (Walla Walla) and Gerogery. By 1880 there were further settlements at Alma Park (Wallendal), Pleasant Hills, Munyabla and Edge Hill. In the next decade we see them spreading out further as far as Henty, Milbrulong and Uranquinty. With the turn of the century they had expanded as far north as Temora and some even further north into Gilgandra.

In 1868 a Lutheran school was opened at Jindera.
In 1877 the residents of Ebenezer petitioned the New South Wales government for a post office. The petition signed by all the residents of the district had only one non-German name on it. The post office was granted and located at the home of the school teacher Frank Zillius.

Across The Western Plains

The Great Dividing Range slopes west to become a huge flood plain that stretches the full length, north to south, of New South Wales and west to the border of South Australia.

One can travel this north-south plain along a thousand kilometre stretch of new South Wales called the Newell Highway. It starts in central southern NSW at the Victorian border on the Murray River, at Tocumwal. From there it traverses through the western parts of the Riverina, the Western Plains and the Pilliga to leave the state at Goondiwindi in Queensland.

German Lutherans

We can follow the settlements of our German ancestors through the cities and towns of: West Wyalong, Parkes and Dubbo, Gilgandra, Narrabri and Moree. All of these are on the highway while Henty, Wagga Wagga, Temora, and Bathurst lie to the east.
The biggest influx of settlers seems to have descended from the German Lutherans who had settled earlier in the Riverina. As they multiplied their need for land became more urgent and so they began their trek north.

It was not long before they turned their eyes to new horizons where even bigger blocks of land might be available. Hence we saw them move north from Walla Walla through Henty, past Wagga Wagga to Temora. As we entered the 20th century we found elements of these families continuing their northern trek through West Wyalong and up to Parkes and Forbes. Still more moved even further north and established a settlement near Gilgandra. It is easy to follow the path of these German Lutherans because where three or more families settled they built a Lutheran Church.

Sadly these families did not mixed with other German families in any part of New South Wales. Mostly they seem to have lived in a state of isolation from their kin folk, which is a poignant indictment on them, or is it on the rest of us?

The Western Plains Region

One of the first Germans to cross the Blue Mountains was Pastor Johann Peter Christian Handt in 1832. At the instigation of Reverend John Dunmore Lang, he was sent out by the London Missionary Society to take the Christian message to the aborigines. Although the colonial fathers were keen to Christianize the aboriginal people they could not or would not persuade English clergy to undertake this task. As a result they went to Germany and brought Lutheran pastors to perform this task in most parts of Australia.

Later on there was another group who crossed the Blue Mountains. They trudged over the range to settle at Carcoar near Mudgee. These families worked for, amongst others, Thomas Icley who had large holdings in the district. They worked as vinedressers, winemakers, coopers and shepherds. On completion of their contracts they seem to have moved into their own land or business in Mudgee and other nearby towns. A number established wineries, some of which are still operating.

One of the families to cross the mountains was that of Andreas Happ and his wife Sarah Ann from Lorch Rhein, Hessen. They arrived in 1850 to work for Captain John Piper at Alloway Bank near Bathurst.

Carl Christian Mehl was born in Stralsund Germany. He became a seaman and on his travels married an Irish colleen named Ellen Sullivan in London in 1854. They spent their honeymoon migrating to Australia and after leaving the ship in Sydney they went to find the end of their rainbow on the Bendigo goldfields. The end of the rainbow wasn’t there. They must have decided to try another gold rush town. They came back to New South Wales trying to find a fortune at Ironbark (now Stuart Town). Here they settled down and became a part of the stable community. Stuart Town is a small town about four hundred kilometres west of Sydney as we head toward Dubbo.

Another family to settle in Stuart Town was Carl August Wilhelm Weber who became the town baker. He also married an Irish colleen.

Another German who tried to find his fortune by following the gold finds was Wilhelm Kohler. He travelled through the Victorian fields before finally coming to Dubbo in 1859 where he became an artist. He married Antoinette Bedat in Dubbo in 1858 and maybe she slowed his wanderings.

A little further south, west of Stuart Town, we find Hillston on the Lachlan River and the western edge of the Riverina. It was to Hillston that Frederick Wilhelm Reinhold Brett Schneider came from Pomerania to settle. It seems that he may have come via Victoria and not Sydney to make his home in this new land.

Frederick was joined in Hillston by Johann Adam Hertel and his wife Christiane Friederike Trampelt came from Saxony. They arrived in Australia in 1855 on board the “Louise” to work in the Narellan district near Camden. After completion of the contract they moved south to Goulburn and then across the range to Hillston.
Gunnedah became a strong German settlement when the South Australian Germans moved into the area in the early 20th century. However, long before that one Edward Charles Loss from Halle, Germany, who had arrived in New South Wales in 1855. He seemed to have wandered around the Gold Fields building Rocker Boxes and doing other carpentry jobs for the miners. He eventually settled as the local carpenter before ending up in the small German community of Gunnedah.
This were he settled down and married a fellow German, originally from Assmanshausen, Germany. Edward seems to just have a record of having been on a ship from Hamburg, and forgot to rejoin his ship when it left Sydney.
The Pilliga Germans

In the far north of the Newell we found another German migration taking place. Families that had settled on the Clarence and the Darling Downs in Queensland had spread their wings and entered the Pilliga. They came across the range and journeyed past Glenn Innes, Armidale and Tenterfield to make a home in Inverell and Narrabri. Once again they lived a fairly quiet existence. So quiet in fact that within a couple of generations nobody was aware that it was the Germans who helped make this district the rich agricultural and pastoral source that it is.

They arrived in the district at different times and for different reason during the century. The first arrivals came as shepherds in the forties and fifties, some came to select and work in the vineyards in the sixties, others were miners in the seventies and another group became associated with Inverell's commerce in the seventies and eighties.

Although quite a large German community developed in the Inverell region, a Lutheran church was never established, but a Lutheran congregation did exist. Pastor Haussman used to travel from Grafton to conduct services in the Presbyterian Church.

It should be noted that the majority of Germans coming from the Hunter Valley were catholic.

Many descendants of these hard working emigrants have remained in the Inverell district, but it is a sad fact that they have no German traditions or language, unlike their Queensland and South Australian brothers. 

The story of Albert Ehsman illustrates the speed with which many German families became assimilated. Ehsman was one of three sons who migrated to Australia in the 1850's in order to avoid being conscripted into the army of the German state of Hanover. He was employed as a shepherd on Newstead Station, where he soon married the daughter of another shepherd of German origin, Muller.
The Anderson family owned Newstead at the tiem and wer responsible for thre morgtaion of several fmaileis including the familes of Carl Holzmann, Andreas Floh, August Hartmann, Carl Osenberg and Eanes Detzel.

In the seventies the family began to make selections near Swan Peak, totalling eight hundred acres in 1884, where they struggled to make a living as woolgrowers. Part of this land was retained by Albert’s descendants until recent years. When WW1 broke out, in order to make enlistment easier, two of the Ehsman sons began to spell their name Eshman. No German traditions survived among Albert Ehsman's children, and so little allegiance to the fatherland was evident that one of them was put in charge of German internees at Trial Bay Gaol.
The Prinz family arrived in Maitland in 1853. When their contract finished they packed their wagon and migrated across the range and across the plains to settle at Narrabri.

One family that came to Narrabri from the Hunter Valley and made their mark was that of Johann Hans Stoltenberg. He arrived on the “Alster” in 1862 from Bendfeld, Schleswig-Holstein. He began life in Australia as a farm hand in the Ravensworth district where he met and married Barbara Dries.

After farming in the Singleton area for a number of years, he packed the wagon and moved to Narrabri where he continued farming.

Generally the South Australian Germans did not socialise with the Germans coming from other parts of the state. Stoltenberg was one of the few exceptions when Johan’s son John married Sophia Hoffmann.

Asmus Stoltenberg arrived in Sydney from Lutterbek, Schleswig-Holstein on the “Garonne” in 1879. He also worked in the Hunter Valley for a number of years and eventually married Elana Stoltenberg the sister of Johann. Elana and Asmus had no blood relationship despite both coming from the same part of Germany.

In time he worked his way via Quirindi to Narrabri.

Asmus’ sister Laura arrived in Narrabri fleeing a wayward husband left behind in Germany. She married a local man and like the rest of her family became a well respected member of the Pilliga community.
Yet another family that settled in Narrabri and made a name for themselves was the two brothers, Ritter. They had migrated from Binswanger, Wurttemberg to work initially in the Hunter Valley. They moved from the Hunter to Narrabri within twenty years of their arrival in the colony.

Franz Carl Ritter immigrated on the 'Undine', but not as an assisted vinedresser because he was not married. However, his occupation on the Hamburg list is Weingartner, not Schafer, so he apparently was not recruited as a shepherd, as were most of the unmarried men.  He went to Patrick's Plain (now Singleton) in New South Wales and was married there in 1861. His bride was from Neckarsulm and also sailed on the 'Undine' with her parents in 1855.  Catherine's father was introduced into Australia by Cyrus Matthew Doyle of Paterson River. Franz Carl was a farmer and died from injuries received while driving a team of horses. He fractured his spine.
Meanwhile there were also a large number of German Emigrants who settled in the Inverell and Warialda areas in mid 1800's. Some of these we talked about when looking at German settlement into New England. Inverell is about halfway between Glenn Innes and Narrabri so it is often arguable as to whether it is in New England or The Pilliga

Casper Limberg arrived via the USA and NZ aboard "Elizabeth" 1866. He was one the first selectors of land in the area and became naturalised in 1869 to enable him to do this.

His wife was Margaret Goldmann whose parents arrived aboard the "Johann Caesar" in 1855 and settled in Wellingrove near Glenn Innes. 

New England German Migrants

East of the Pilliga and north of the Hunter we have New England with yet another lost story of German migrants in the 19th century.

In 1826 Governor Darling replaced Governor Brisbane as the chief administrator of the colony. Brisbane was interested to find a way from Sydney to Adelaide and sent Hamilton Hume and his mate William Hovel to find that path. Instead they found an inland highway connecting Sydney to Melbourne.

Meantime a settlement had been established in Moreton Bay. The new governor was keen to find a way overland to connect the two settlements.

He gave the job to a botanist named Alan Cunningham. Cunningham had been sent out by Sir Joseph Banks of Cook’s journey up the east coast, to gather plants from the inland parts of the colony. Already by 1820, Cunningham had travelled with Oxley as he explored the Lachlan and Macquarie Rivers.

Cunningham set out from Bathurst in 1826 to travel north. He crossed New England Ranges and eventually came across the wide rich Darling Downs plains. He tried to find a way through the range to the Moreton Bay settlement but the ranges proved far too rugged for him. He was short of supplies and his horses were starting to feel the effects of the journey so he turned back down the road to Sydney.

Next year in 1828 he sailed up to Moreton Bay and after some effort discovered the gap in the range that bears his name. He crossed the range and ventured down through New England to the Hunter Valley and on to Sydney.

Today we can drive down New England Highway, across the undulating plains, over the rugged ranges and through picturesque valleys from Queensland to Sydney.

This part of New South Wales boasts some of the most picturesque and richest pastoral country in Australia. From when it leaves the Hunter Valley north-west of Maitland, we experience six hours of ranges, valleys and open plains. New England lies on the western slopes of the Great Dividing Range and falls away to the western plains of the Pilliga region of New South Wales.

Travelling north from Sydney the first major city we find is Tamworth, famous world wide for its annual country music festival. Not very far up the road is Uralla and Armidale the home of a number of German migrants of the 19th century.
Unlike South Australia where every German family seemed to go from the ship to the Barossa Valley and move on from there, New England Germans seemed to have come via Moreton Bay, the Clarence River region or Sydney to New England. Many are what we might call an overflow population from the Hunter Valley as well as the Clarence region and the Darling Downs.

For this exercise we will come down the road from Queensland to the Hunter Valley knowing that many of our families went up the road and then across.

Tenterfield

In 1860 Charles Leis became the publican at Tenterfield. He married into the family of Martin Claus Schroder who came with his parents to Australia from Schleswig-Holstein in 1865 on the ‘La Rochelle’. He owned two hotels in West Tenterfield.

Another German migrant to settle in Tenterfield and operate a commercial business was Julius Imberger who operated a successful sawmilling industry in the town, whilst his son operated a Cordial factory during the 1920's. He was succeeded by another cordial maker named Rudolph Braun who was in operation prior to 1875.

Other Braun’s appear to have been there during the 1890's.

The Schroder family were successful dairy farmers at Tenterfield. Johann Henrich Schröder arrived at Moreton Bay sometime in 1850's on the “Caesar Godefroy”. His brother Peter Schröder arrived about the same time. Then in 1864 Claus and Margaretha Schröder arrived on the ‘La Rochelle’ with their children Claus Martin and Anna. It is interesting that we also find an Augusta Schroder who had 2 children in Tenterfield with no recorded father.
Another Tenterfield German family was that of Anthony and Catherine Mary Stamm who arrived in Australia in about 1850. It appears that Anthony was dead by 1861 because Catherine Mary is found to have married another German, Frances Sharpenberg, in 1861. She married a third time to another German migrant named George Geisler in 1871 and appears to have then settled in the Warialda district.

Also in Tenterfield we find the Hars and Reibelt families as well as that of Deitrich Morseman who came to Moreton Bay and in time journeyed down to Tenterfield where he became a successful dairy farmer..

We know that there was a rather large German community near Tenterfield because in the 1870s there was a Lutheran congregation and possibly a church.

Towards Inverell

Johann Matthias Elvers came from Hanover and married in Australia a Mary Ann Forsyth in about 1860 at Bingara on the far western edge of New England.

Franz & Catharina Dezius arrived in Sydney from Kiedrich, Germany on the 23rd of May 1855. They sailed on the "Peru". They were married in Oct 1854. Franz was sponsored by Mr. George Morse of "Abington" Bundarra. Bundarra was a sheep station community about seventy five kilometres west of Glenn Innes on the road to Inverell and Bingara.

Franz was involved with initial planting of a vineyard across the creek from the homestead.

When his contract finished in 1856 he moved to a place called Sawpit Gully on the Rocky River where he appears to have started his own sawmills.

He was naturalized in 1880 and became the local publican at Bundarra for a time.

If we go further west we come to Inverell. Here a number of German families, coming mostly it seems from the Hunter, settled.

There were a large number of German Emigrants, including the Discher family that settled in the Inverell/Warialda area in mid 1800.

Wellingrove/Glenn Innes

One of the first and foremost German families to come into New England was Johann Baptist Kneipp.

They came from the small village of Winkel in the picturesque district lying between the Rhine River and the Taurus Mountains.

Johann migrated to Australia to escape military service in the Prussian army 

He married Caroline Utz who migrated to Australia with her brother Jonathan Frederick Utz on the “Sophie” in 1860.

Johann and Frederick settled in the Glenn Innes area where Frederick became a prominent business man and community leader. He was Mayor of Glenn Innes for a number of years.

Ernest Haupt settled at Glen Innes where he died in 1911.

Margaret Goldmann together with her parents and siblings arrived aboard the "Johann Caeser" in 1855  and settled in Wellingrove about 18 kilometres west of Glenn Innes. She married Caspar Limberg who arrived from New Zealand in 1866. Caspar was one the first selectors of land in the area after becoming naturalised in 1869.

Deepwater

Phillip Hottes and Elizabeth Wagner arrived on the ‘la Hogue’ as steerage passengers in 1870. They settled at Road Range near Deepwater. Other family members, namely Susanna Hottes and Phillip Muller, her brother Phillip Hottes and Elizabeth Wagner and another sister Anna Katharine Hottes who married Henry Kratz came out at about the same time and settled in Glenn Innes. It is interesting that the first generation daughter Catherine married the Irish migrant James O’Brien.

The Vaupel family came from Reichensachsen, Hessen to Glen Innes and Armidale in 1853.

Kelly’s Plains/Armidale

To the south of Armidale lies Kelly's Plains. This was the scene of a small German community in the 1860s. There were other German families in Armidale and at Saumarez Ponds about seven kilometres west of Armidale.

The majority of these families came from Eltville and neighbouring villages along the Rhine. Wilhelm Kirschner played a leading role in organising their migration while William Dangar and Arthur Palmer appear to have been the main sponsors.

Dangar had large holdings in and around Armidale. He was known to have strong preference for German shepherds, farm hands and sheep. Palmer was his manager on the Gostwyck holdings where a number of German families settled.

Then in 1855 we find the Beckerfamily coming from Reichensachsen, Hessen to Armidale

Theodore Kunz arrived on the Gottorp in 1857 from Obererlenbach Germany. German families associated with the family are Elizabeth and Catherine Brandscheid and Christian Iverson.

The family settled at Kelly Plains near Armidale but later they moved to Bendemeer and Uralla. Several family members later moved to other places in the district such as Tamworth, Gunnedah and Narrabri.

The majority of German settlers seem to have come north from the Hunter Valley. Some came down from Moreton Bay but others like the Baumgartner, Hamell and Eckert families arrived in Grafton. When their contract finished, they crossed the range to settle at Saumarez Ponds near Armidale. They were brought to Australia under the Bounty Scheme and contracted by Wilhelm Kirschner in Württemberg.

Those who had come out on the Bounty Scheme still had debt to pay. This was achieved within a few short years because of the diligence and determination found in the German character. Once the debt was paid they purchased land for themselves. They then worked and developed their own land while working part time for the large landholders.

Johannes Berger and Elizabeth Paulus with their son arrived in Moreton Bay, Queensland on 30 Nov 1863 on the "San Francisco". They moved to Deepwater twenty six miles north of Glen Innes, then to Yarrowford and later to Glen Innes.

One of their daughters married Johann Orth.
Gostwyck/Uralla

Further down the road at Gostwyck a little town about fire kilometres east of Uralla, came the Eichhorn family from Lampoldshausen, Württemberg.

Another German family to settle at Gostwyck in 1855 was the Lasker family from Frauenstein, Nassau.

Another early German to New England was Johann Diederichs who arrived at Moreton Bay on the ‘Aurora’ in 1855. He came out as a shepherd to work in the Armidale district.

When his contract finished he continued to work as the overseer on the property. In 1870 he appears to have gone mining because in that year he was killed when the bank into which he was mining fell and smothered him.

Continuing down the highway we stop at Trundle where we find Gottfreid Trinks and his wife Sybella. He seems to have settled there until his death in 1873.

Then we find Wilhelm Ulrich together with Sophia Schroder, Frederick Schroder and Henry Schroder had themselves listed as a family to meet the requirements of the Bounty Migrant Scheme and their sponsor the Australian Agricultural Company. They arrived in Sydney in 1854 on board the ‘Singapore’ and then travelled by steamship to Port Stephens where they disembarked to commence work for their employers as shepherds and hutkeeper.

They were among a group of about a dozen shepherds coming from the Mecklenburg region on contract to the Australian Agricultural Company in the Stroud area. It appears that there was not the normal happy relationship between these shepherds and the sponsor.

As soon as their contract finished they moved on to other fields.
A little further south at Tamworth we find the Britz brothers. There was Karl Herman, Karl Julius and Karl Robert. Julius and Herman settled in the Tamworth region while Robert moved further south into the Hunter and settled at Emmaville.
The Hunter Valley Home of Australia’s Wine Industry
The largest Germans migration of the 1850s was north of Sydney into the Hunter Valley. It would be impossible to talk about the migration programmes of Wilhelm Kirschner without stopping to look more closely at the Hunter.

The Hunter Valley region is located about 160 kilometres north of Sydney. It comprises the large and wide valley of the Hunter River which stretches inland for about 70 -80 kilometres. The valley stretches from the Hawkesbury River just north of Sydney to Taree about 100 kilometres north of Newcastle the main centre. It reaches west as far as Maitland.
The Hunter Valley first came to the attention of the early settlers because of the huge coal resources. This was soon followed by the discovery of its rich soils suitable for most crops.

Most of New South Wales’ electricity is generated from several large power stations situated on these coal fields.

This region in New South Wales can rightfully claim to be the cradle of wine production in Australia.

Many of the Germans vinedressers, winemakers and coopers who had came out to work on the vineyards in the Camden Valley found employment in vineyards of the Hunter Valley in the 1840s. This involved not just the lower Hunter region itself but as far afield as Maitland.

The first record of vines being planted in the Hunter Valley was in 1820 when an Ex-convict named  ‘Molly’ Morgan established a wine shack in what is now Maitland and served booze to convicts and emancipists working in the local coal mines or travelling through the area.

Perhaps the Convicts had developed a taste for wine on the transport ships or just wanted to drink themselves into oblivion. Either way, their love of ‘grog’ made them avid consumers, whatever the wine's quality.

With the arrival of the free settlers, agricultural and pastoral activities rapidly grew to rank with timber and mining in economic importance. One of the new farming industries introduced was the growing of grapes.

By 1823 some 20 acres of vineyards had already been planted on the northern banks of the Hunter River in an area between Maitland and Singleton. Among the names of pioneering vignerons were George Wyndham of Dalwood, William Kelman at Kirkton and James King of Irrawang.
The industry was given a solid boost when the amateur viticulturalist James Busby arrived back in the colony of New South Wales with a named collection of some five hundred vine cuttings, drawn from collections and private plantings in Europe and South Africa.
The Busby Collection, initially planted out at Sydney’s then newly established Botanic Gardens, has come to be regarded as the base from which Australia’s wine industry developed.

James Busby’s sister, who had also come out on the ship with him married William Kelman. The couple took up a land grant at Kirkton on the Hunter River near Morpeth. There was a small vineyard already planted in the area. Kelman was inspired by both this and Busby’s collection of grape varieties. From there the Hunter Valley grew into a flourishing wine producing area. By 1840 the Hunter Valley’s registered vineyard area exceeded 500 acres.

Between 1835 and 1837 the New South Wales government undertook a plan to bring migrants from continental Europe to work in the cultivation of vines and olives for the manufacture of wine and oil. This plan had a very short life span as the British government vetoed it almost as soon as it began.

In 1842 Ludwig Leichhardt visited the Hunter and explored its upper reaches. He spent several months in the region as a guest of the settlers. He collected botanical specimens for his friend William Kirschner as well as preparing plans for his later explorations in the north of the colony. We know that one of his hosts was the wine maker Helenus Scott of Glendon Wines. We can assume therefore that the wine industry in the Hunter was well on its way by 1842.

Leichhardt’s friend Wilhelm Kirschner was both a consul and an entrepreneur. He was to play a key role in the German immigration to the Hunter Valley and later the Clarence River regions of New South Wales.
In 1847 we find the first agent for bringing German migrants to New South Wales. As transportation had come to an end in 1840, Mr Beit saw the opportunity to make a good deal of money out of a large scale migration scheme. There was an acute shortage of manual labour in the colony and Beit saw that he could hire ships and for an agreed fee select suitable German migrants for the colony. As a result Beit set himself up as an agent to bring vine dressers, wine makers and coopers to both New South Wales and to New Zealand. He pressured the colonial governments to grant his migrants British citizenship on arrival. This meant they could then buy land immediately they arrived. At that stage the law forbid anybody holding land in New South Wales until he was naturalised. 
It appears that this agent was not as successful as he would have liked. There is one case on record of a vine dresser named Schieb who was promised his own plot of land by Beit. After some time of waiting and finding himself in a financial crisis, Scheib deserted Beit and took up permanent work with George Wyndham of Dalwood

It was also in 1847 that Britain relented on its previous policy of no migrants to the colony except from England. It broadened its assisted immigration scheme to include non-British people wishing to migrate to Australia provided they possessed skills not available in British migrants. As England did not have a wine industry the vine growers in the Hunter needed to look to the continent of Europe for manpower. This change to the regulations allowed them to do that. The Rhine Valley in Germany was an obvious place to look as it had been growing fine wines for export throughout Europe for generations. As a result we saw the migration of a large number of wine-makers, vine-dressers and coopers from the Rhineland in Germany to the vineyards of the Hunter Valley.

It was however William Kirschner who had a strong conviction in regard the value, and in his words, the need for German vine dressers in New South Wales. He was convinced that this must happen if the wine industry was to be successful. So strong was his conviction that, in 1850 he produced a book that promoted the concept of German migration to Australia.

In this book he heavily promoted the potential of the Hunter Valley. He claimed Maitland as the capital of the Hunter Valley. He also alleged that the region would become a centre for significant production of food products, saying that it produced the best wine in the country.
Kirschner saw Newcastle as becoming a major sea port of coal, wine and other primary and secondary products.
Unlike Beit, Kirschner actually lived in Sydney and had a strong rapport with the colonial government. He advised that the best vinedressers in Germany were to be found on the banks of the Rhine and its tributaries. He expressed concern that a difficulty would exist in getting only single men because the German peasant generally married while quite young.

In Kirschner’s opinion families would be ideal, because the women and children were already accustomed to working in the vineyard. He suggested that an offer of Fifteen Pounds a year, with the usual rations and a free passage, would induce many vinedressers to emigrate from Germany. He also believed that if they were brought out in groups of one hundred immigrants at a time, would be cheaper and thereby reduce greatly the cost of shipping.

Under Kirschner’s plan the contracts were drawn up with the potential employer in Sydney before he went to Germany and that contract was then binding on the employer. He also added in a fee for his own services as the agent.

He travelled to the Hunter Valley on several occasions and placed advertisements in the local newspapers to obtain orders for the importation of German immigrants. In December 1847 he held a meeting with winegrowers at the Northumberland Inn, Maitland and another at the Junction Inn in Raymond Terrace to obtain orders for workers.

He managed to entice some two hundred large and small land owners in all districts of New South Wales and Moreton Bay (Queensland) to sponsor German migrants. Each sponsor applied to the Immigration Agent to bring out between one and thirty two migrant workers.

In total he brought out more than eight hundred families between 1849 and 1856. Although many families did go to the Hunter Valley region there was a considerable number who went to Moreton Bay (Queensland) and other parts of New South Wales.

In all instances they were on a contract to work for the employer sponsoring them for a period of two years. The adult migrant had to be less than fifty years of age and married. It would appear from a close look at the life style and span of some migrants that they were over that age. One has to wonder if the birth certificates were checked before the passport was issued or did the agent accept the word of each intending migrant.

In some instances we find that the wife is up to fourteen years older than her husband. In some instances we find the marriage is only weeks old on the date of departure and we find a number of marriages that took place on board ship. Obviously the marriage was a convenience situation, yet they seemed to live a contented happy married life in the Hunter Valley.

Initially the parents were expected to pay for their children but in 1855 this was amended to allow for three children under the age of ten to be covered in the sponsorship.

It is interesting to note the information recorded against each individual on the passport:

	Occupation:- Winzer (ie. Gatherer of harvest grapes):

	
	Status
	:-Married man
	Age
	:-33

	
	Height
	:- Nearly 6Ft.
	Hair
	:- Blond, Cut short

	
	Nose
	:- Strong
	Mouth
	:- Firm

	
	Teeth
	:- Good
	Chin
	:- Pointed

	
	Face
	:- Oval
	Complexion :- Healthy

	
	Physical Peculiarities :- None
	Family :- Wife & four children


In 1848 Kirschner sailed to Germany to recruit the vineyard workers. He concentrated his efforts in the vine growing areas in south-west Germany. To be more specific he sought migrants from the Rheingau district of Hessen and areas adjacent to it northwards and across the Rhine around Frankfurt, Baden and Wurttemberg.

The first three ship-loads of German families arrived in Sydney under this government managed ‘Bounty Immigration Scheme” in 1849 on the Beulah, Parland and Harmony. There were 121 families (383 people) in this group. While a few stayed in the Sydney area the vast majority were destined for the vineyards of the Hunter Valley.

It is interesting to note the number of migrants some employers sponsored. Lindeman sponsored fifteen while Macarthur sponsored thirty four. When we see such names as W.C.Wentworth among the sponsors it becomes obvious that while the majority were vine dressers, coopers and wine makers some were also shepherds.

Other families allocated were:

Wiesbaden to J.S. Taylor of Lochinvar;

Friedrich Diehl of Oberradd, near Wiesbaden to Henry Carmichael of Porphyry Point, Seaham, on the Williams River;

Peter Norgardt of Eltville also to Henry Carmichael

The general practice and intent was to bring German migrants out to work in the wine industry, but not all the migrants had training or experience in this industry in their homeland. Some were day labourers and took any work they could get, which could have included vineyard work since they were nearly all recruited from vine growing areas. Of 20 assisted men from the town of Kiedrich in the Rheingau, there were only 4 stated to be vinedressers and 2 were coopers in the church books; the others comprised 1 gardener, 4 day labourers, 5 farm labourers, 1 bricklayer, 1 linen weaver, 1 clockmaker and 1 ladies’ tailor.

We find that thirty percent of the German migrants are listed as shepherds. Among the other seventy percent we find people listed as blacksmith, carpenter, locksmith, miner, quarryman, sawyer, engineer, shoe maker (indispensable on large properties with many workers), tailor, tanner, wheelwright, and wool sorter. It is interesting that in almost every instance the wife is also listed as having a profession. For example the wife of a shepherd is listed as a ‘hutkeeper’. Daughters were usually listed as servants, maids, cooks or some other domestic profession.

We know that the British government had determined that only people with skills not found in England could be brought out from the continent. It would appear that this rule was either ignored or the agent found a way around it. It does make sense that if he was bringing a large number of migrants from a particular state that he would include those professions and trades that would normally support these people at home.

It is interesting that one of the vinedressers, Jacob Kempenich, who came out on the ‘Cateaux Wattel’, in 1855 had also just served a six year term as mayor of the village. This suggests that he was not too badly off financially, but he also had five sons to consider.

Europe was in a state of internal revolution together with a minor depression in the late 1840s. This would have made the opportunity to escape to a new life in a new land very attractive to a man such as Kempenich.

Throughout history the German has been a migratory person. He migrated from his native tribal lands across Europe into the neighbouring and far distant states of the continent. A percentage migrated to the British Isles and in later years thousands migrated to America. In every instance the migrating German quickly adapted to the new situation and settled down to instil into the community the benefits of his skills in farming, industry and commerce. In the Hunter Valley this seems to be a repeat of history. I guess for them in Australia the freedoms to do their work in peace and to live as they wished in a quiet living industrious manner is demonstrated by the words of one German in a letter home:

"Here are no masters who climb up hay stacks with spy-glasses to see whether the workers take a breather".

Finally they began their journey to Australia. From their home in Hessen they sailed 363 kilometres to Rotterdam. Some were then transferred by ferry to London. Others were transferred by train or ferry the 400 kilometres to Hamburg. A few joined their ship in Rotterdam.

According to the diaries and letters of some, the Rhine journey was more like a pleasure cruise than a migrant ship with singing and parties for the whole three days of the journey.

At Rotterdam, Hamburg and London they were made comfortable and given opportunity to sight see and shop at will. This is a benefit and privilege that migrants from Germany to other states in Australia did not always enjoy.

Although the ships bringing migrants to the Hunter Valley docked in Sydney, it did not discharge its human cargo there. Those for the Hunter were brought on to Newcastle and were met there by their new employer.

When the ship docked the sponsor had to go to the wharf and claim his people. He had to present his copies of documentation and sign for the migrant family. He had to pay a bounty of six pound ten shillings ($13) for each person over the age of fourteen years. This was reclaimable from the migrant over the next two-year period. The government subsidised it to the extent of thirty six pounds for the man and his wife and eighteen pounds for each child over the age of fourteen years. Thus was paid top the employer.
One of the families to arrive on the ‘Peru’ in 1855 was the vinedresser Jacob Busch. Around 1880 Jacob and his family moved to Rosemount vineyard near Denman in the Upper Hunter and changed their Name to the English BUSH.

The grandchildren of this family were unaware until the 1990s of their German ancestry.

It seems that the German connection was deliberately withheld from the children due to the possibility of prejudice. Those that may have known did not communicate this to their peers. We must also remember that during World War 1 and to a lesser extent World War 2, there was mass hysteria in regard to Germans. This caused many German families to deny their heritage. The German ancestors also had a belief that they were now Australian and the past is past. Hence there may not have been the enthusiasm to talk about the ancestry as we found in other states.
One area of prejudice seems to lie within the church. The Busch family came from a Catholic area in Germany. There is some indication that Irish Catholics resented the non-English speaking Germans and tried to exclude them from their church. Unlike in Albury where the priest made an effort to learn the language and minister to his people in that manner, the Hunter Catholic priests left them to the good nature of their fellow Catholics. Thus some family members married outside their faith.

Unlike what happened in the Camden Valley these German immigrants stayed in the Hunter Valley and many well-known families in Maitland and district can be related back to the German migration. Their children often married into the Irish Catholic families. Sadly the German traditions of these families were within a generation lost forever as they became absorbed into the Irish, Scottish and English communities. The reason for this is not known but it can be presumed that first of all they were employed by English vineyard owners and secondly that they had no church community to hold them together. The majority were Catholic and this may be a reason. Due to the existing Irish population there were already Catholic Churches and Catholic communities, unlike in Queensland and South Australia where the majority were Lutheran and had to create their own community.

Twenty one German immigrant ships arrived in Sydney between 1849 and 1856.

In 1853 the Balthasar Dreis and his wife arrived on the "Helene". This was a German migrant ship bringing migrants from Rheingau to the Hunter Valley. The Dreis story represents the experience of most of their fellow migrants.

They came from the village of Lorch in the westernmost parts of the Rheingau in the German state of Hessen. Although a very picturesque region it was a very poor region. The principal industry since the Roman times was vine growing and the making of wines. 
Balthasar Dreis was born in 1814 at Lorchhausen near Rheingau in Hessen. He married Barbara Appel in 1847. This was his third marriage. His first two wives had died. Balthasar was a Roman Catholic. He and his wife could very capably read and write. They had with them two children aged five and three.

They were sponsored to work for George Townshend at Trevallyn near Paterson in the Hunter Valley region

Those on the same ship to work for George Townshend were Johann and Sebastian Geiger, Johann Lees, Johann Schmitt and Anton Schuber.

Also on board the “Helene” were William Henry Stolz and his wife Eva Joanna. Note the Anglicised given names already in use within months of their arrival.

Also in 1853, the “Triton” arrived with German migrants for the Hunter region. On board were the cousins of Balthasar Dreis. These were the brothers Andreas and William Dreis, their wives, children and their mother.

Andreas settled at Belford some 30 kilometres west of Maitland. In Germany he owned a terrace of grapevines but also had other employment around the village.

Andreas was a widowed father of four children in 1851 when first approached to migrate to the new land in the south.

The decision to migrate was based on a number of decisions arising from many different sources. Some of these were:

· The wine areas in Germany had very large populations within a reasonably small area.

· Because of the way in which land was sub-divided with each new generation many of the vineyards had become too small to be viable.

· Hence grape growing was more speculative than other forms of farming

· .The situation was made worse because wine is subjected to changing public tastes.

· At the beginning of the 19th century Germany lost a lot of its export wine trade due to the rise of a desire for tea and coffee.

· More damage was done to the industry by the growth in taxes, excises and tolls imposed on it by a multitude of petty local lords.

· The grape grower experienced a series of bad harvests in the 1840s.

· There was a state of near famine for much of Europe in 1846 and 1847 when European grain prices soared and potato rot was widespread.

· In the night between 17 and 18 August 1851, hailstorms ruined much of that year's grape crop.

It can be seen that sheer frustration alone would be an enticement for people to migrate, and with the agents painting a rosy picture, the decision was made.

It was necessary for the intending migrant to obtain permission from the local governing authority. This seemed to be forthcoming without hassle in most instances however the intending migrant had to meet a couple of criteria.

One criterion was that the migrant must be married. For Andreas this was no problem. In a village some twenty kilometres up the river in the village of Winkel lived a twenty nine year old maiden who, he heard, was anxious to migrate. They went through the necessary process and three weeks after their marriage they set sail for New South Wales. It would be interesting to know whether this was a marriage of love or convenience. On the same ship were Andreas’ four children who in age could well have passed off as sisters and brothers to his new wife, Anna Maria Huebinger.

Andreas and his family may well have fitted into the category of people not being employed as vine dressers or wine makers as per their contract. It appears that he may have been sent well up the Hunter reaches to Jerry's Plains as a farm hand and gradually moved back down river to Belford, and then again to Lochinvar, which is quite close to Maitland.

On the other hand his brother Wilhelm seems to have gone straight to Belford and remained there.
It is of note that almost on arrival Andreas changed his name to the English - Andrew.

He was sponsored to migrate by Thomas Jarman Hawkins. Hawkins gave his home address as Bathurst but it appears he may have had property as far a field as Jerry Plains and maybe even Maitland. Perhaps Andreas was assigned to manage an outstation from his home selection.

It would appear that Andreas’ sons, Andrew and Henry Dries, later had large land holdings around Ravensworth where they became pastoralists.

An interesting aspect about this family is that their widowed mother accompanied one of the sons to Australia. So apparently some families brought one or both of their parents with them. Yet there are no records of this happening in mass.

Johann Naeglein and his wife Katherina travelled with two small daughters on the "Beulah" from Erbach in 1849. Katherina’s brothers, named Kauter from Mittleheim, were also on the ship. They settled in Lochinvar in the Hunter. Interestingly after arrival they would spell their surname a number of different ways. Finally they established the spelling of Negline.

Another family that anglicised its names soon after arrival was that of Charles Stoehr. He changed the spelling of his name to Stair. He arrived with his parents from Schriesheim near Heidelberg in 1855.

The Sleishman and Isinger families came to the Hunter Valley from Kaferthal, a small village near Mannheim in Baden
 Germany, in 1856 to work as vinedressers. Later they took up mixed farming on Ash Island
 and at Mayfield near Newcastle. Here once again we find the inter-marriage between a German, Sleishamn, and an Irish woman, Scanlon, taking place.

Another family on the Parland was Matthaus Bambach and his wife Maria Rosa (nee Holz) who came from Eltville, a major wine producing district on the Rhine. They settled in the Paterson/Maitland area.

Yet another family who arrived on the “Beulah” in 1849 was the Linz family who eventually settled in the Newcastle area.

Christian Kauter was one of a number of Germans brought out to work at the Kaludah vineyards, near Cessnock, in the mid 1850s.

A German migrant, Martin Bouffier, who had his own block on the north bank of Wollombi Brook, planted his vineyard in 1866.

The “Helene” brought a number of German migrants in 1855. These were farmers privately contracted to work in the Hunter region in various areas of farming. One such migrant contracted to the Danger family was a farmer Carl Brecht, his wife and three children aged from eight to nineteen years old. He came from Ernsbach near Wurttemberg.

Another family was that of Henry Schultz and wife Heinrika Banchs together with their two children. They were brought out here by the Australian Agricultural Company to work as shepherds. On their ship was also a number of German sheep.

In 1855 the “Commodore Perry” arrived in Sydney with more German migrants to settle in the Cessnock area. Among these migrants were Andrew Philip and his wife Maria Schweizer. Andrew was also a vine dresser from Niederheimbach near Oberheimbach in the Rhine Valley.
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A Panoramic view of the vineyards at Oberheimbach

One family that did move on from the Hunter was that of Hienrich Schutz who migrated from Hanover in 1856. He actually came out as a crew member of the migrant ship. He ‘jumped ship’ in Sydney to follow his love up to the Hunter Valley. He married the daughter of Johann Christof Gentz and Caroline Engleman from Pomerania. The Gentz family had migrated in 1856 arriving on the “Alwine” and taking up work in the Maitland area. However it would appear that they were either non-bounty migrants or were sponsored by a settler in Inverell, because Hienrich and his family were found in Inverell in 1858. There is record of Caroline Gentz having died in 1857 on bullock dray journey north.
Another family that moved on was Friedrich Rudolph Beuschel and family who arrived in Australia in 1860 from Prussia.  After farming in Denman in NSW for some twenty years he moved to Toowoomba in Queensland.

Not all migrants were vine workers or shepherds. Abraham Solomon came out from Germany and established a general store in Maitland. Abraham and his brother Serone Solomon were sentenced to life imprisonment for house breaking in 1836 and transported to the colony on the “Lady Kennaway”. Abraham is listed as having been born in Frankfurt while Serone was born in Berlin.
The lure to the new land must have been very attractive. Frequently one of a ship’s crew ‘jumped ship’ and joined the migrant settlers. Johann Hoff was born in Hamburg, Germany, worked as seaman on one of the ships bringing migrants to New South Wales. He suddenly appeared in the Hunter Valley from nowhere in the late 1800s when he married Mary Jane Iles.

For some the road was not easy. Although the migrant was brought out to fill specific roles, there are instances the employer did not have sufficient work in that area and tended to employ his migrant in other farm areas. Edward Ogilvie had a small vineyard at Yulgilbar and his German vinedressers were occasionally employed there, but his more desperate need was for shepherds. Hence they seem to have spent most of their time in that occupation.

The bringing out of married couples presented some problems. Agent Kirschner was expected to bring only married couples out. However not less than eleven couples married on the ships coming out. There can be various reasons for this.

One couple that seem to have got through the system unscathed were Karl and Maria Schumacher. They married in Clarencetown
 in 1855. 

The British custom for marriage differed from that of the German custom, although the German custom was not uniform in all states. In some states of Germany it was custom for the couple to set up home immediately they announced an engagement. The marriage would then occur when the wife became pregnant or at a time to suit the requirements of the state or family. Hence it would have not been unusual for a number of the younger couples to be accepted as married, yet they needed to formally marry before the ship docked in Sydney. This issue did present problems between Kirschner and the migration officers in Sydney.

Sometimes this issue of trade or profession before migration became a real problem. Edwin Hickey of Osterley in the Hunter sponsored Heinrich Burg from the “Parland”. He refused to employ Burg when he discovered that he was a cabinet maker and joiner, not a vinedresser. As a result no bounty was paid until 1851 when Hickey saw Burg working for a neighbour and realised that Burg was both a good vinedresser and a good wine maker.

It is interesting to note some of the activities of these German migrants to the Hunter Valley.

In 1866 they held a German Ball in Maitland. The poster advertising it read:

DEUTSCHER BALL

EIN DEUTSCHER BALL wird staff finden am 24th July,

nahe am Theatre, in Herrn Stark's grossem gebande.

Eintrittakarten Bind zie haben bei.

Jacon Ternes

In the same year the German community of Clarence Town held a public meeting of all naturalised Germans to express horror and indignation at "the dastardly attempt to murder his Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh". These German residents went on to sign a declaration of loyalty. The wording of this expression was:

"We also beg to assure your Excellency of our profound loyalty and warm attachment to our beloved Queen, her Throne and person; and that we are determined to uphold law and order, and support the Constitution of the realm at any hazard.

We are your Excellency's most obedient servants”:

The petition is then signed by thirty citizens all German.

The reason for their changing their names might be found in the problems that public servant had in spelling the German name. The German would say his name in an accented form of English and the public servant with quill in hand would write what he thought he heard. Again some German surnames were very close to English names for example Philips in German and Phillips in English. Thus we can see how some names became anglicised in spelling but it still does not explain the changing of names altogether.

It must be noted that these German migrants were well educated and as Germans were very literate. Despite this they had a problem with the English language and customs that often caused them to be misjudged academically by the English public service and by their neighbours.

The children of these first migrants to the Hunter had a problem because of the lack of schools in the area and the distance to a school. The mother had the task of teaching her children their basic literacy and numeracy. Once again in Queensland and South Australia we saw the German communities quickly establish schools, yet it does not seem to have happened in the Hunter.

The Clarence River Germans

We began this narrative about our German ancestor into New South Wales in the 19th century by talking about the Germans who came out to work in the vineyards at Camden south of Sydney. We followed them and those who came later as they moved down what we know as the Hume Corridor to Albury. We talked about how these migrants had worked to develop Albury as a modern border city. We saw them not just as vinedressers but as shepherds and farmer. We know that within their midst were also doctors, shopkeepers and other industrial entrepreneurs.
In Albury we also met the German Lutherans who had came across from South Australia in search of new pastures. We saw how these people separated themselves from those coming via Sydney, Melbourne or Brisbane.
From Albury we travelled north with these Lutherans as they migrated up the centre of New South Wales to open up the vast western plains of the state to farming enterprises. Continually on that journey we saw German migrants crossing the range at places such as Mudgee, from the Hunter Valley and from Grafton.
We travelled east from Narrabri to Tenterfield and down through New England, we had constant reference to those crossing the range from Grafton and the Clarence River regions. Hence it seems wise to stop now and have a close look at the German migration into this region in the 19th century.

Halfway between Newcastle and Brisbane and east of the Great Dividing Range is a network of fast flowing rivers. These rivers begin somewhere in the ranges and fed by smaller streams they amble their way down the range and across a mass of rich river flats to the sea.

Most prominent of these waterways are the Clarence River, Manning River and the Richmond River. Along the banks of these rivers we find the cities and towns of Casino, Coffs Harbour and Grafton. All of these were centres of German settlement in the 19th century.

Grafton can claim to be the capital of this picturesque and fertile region. The city lies some fifty-five miles up stream from the ocean. In the 19th century the river was navigable by reasonable sized craft right into the centre of town.

It was for this reason that Wilhelm Kirschner moved his home from Sydney to Grafton in about 1857. He saw this as an ideal place for decentralised industry and a meeting place for the produce coming down from New England and the Northern River regions.
In 1855 Thomas Robertson and William Ogilvie had met the “Undine” when it berthed in Sydney and hired a number of German farm hands and shepherds for their holdings along the Clarence. In the same year Joseph Sharpe employed the Kempenich family off the ”Cateaux Wattel”.

Inspired by the quality of labour these Germans provided, Henry Fletcher from the Manning River holdings and John Barker from the Richmond River holdings went to Sydney and hired a number of families coming in on the “Commodore Perry”.
In 1860, a German, Hans Riecke grew the first crop of cultivated bananas for commercial purposes at his small block in Coffs Harbour.
Kirschner established a soap and candle making factory in Grafton. He was able to take advantage of the river transport system to bring in the tallow products and send out the manufactured items. He also established sawmills and stone masonry mills. All this was done using craftsmen hired from Germany.
One of the first names we find here are Frederick William Emert who was born in Grafton and in 1921 was the town chemist. His parents were William Frederick Emert born in Siglingen, Wuertternberg, Germany. William was brought out as a vinedresser.

On the same ship and from the same town was Charles Frederick Bauer who is listed as a farmer.

His brother John Sydney Bauer was also listed as a farmer but in Grafton he was registered as a wheelwright
.

Also on the ship but from Nassar, Germany was Robert Metz a Stonemason and Wilhelm Schlossar a Vinedresser from Erbach. With them came John Auer from Affaltrach, Wurttemberg
An interesting situation exists when we find Eileen Vogt a Presentation Nun and Joseph Vogt a Vinedresser both born in Wurttemberg. Does this mean that there were also nuns and priests brought out from Germany by Kirschner?

Another group came from Neckansulum to Casino 1853. They were assisted migrants coming out as vinedressers although they may never have worked as such in New South Wales. It appears that because it was easy to bring in German migrants as vinedressers this requirement was exploited by the land holders seeking German labourers, shepherds and tradesmen.
Clemens Siebert and Margaretta Grosz arrived in Sydney on the Caesar Godfrey in 1856. They then went by ship to Grafton where they both died tragic deaths. Clemens drowned in the river in 1864 and Margaretta was burned to death in 1880. Clemens was carpenter in Germany and in Grafton.

The Lollback family were brought out as stonemasons from Germany in the mid 1800's to build the Yugilbah Castle which still stands on the north side of the Clarence River near Tabulum. It was the Ogilvie family that built this castle and their descendants still live in it.

Johannetta Wilhelmine Weber also arrived on the Caesar Godfrey in 1856. It seems from the records that the ship may have actually docked with its migrant passengers in Grafton although it is doubtful if the river was deep enough to take such a large ship. She married Johannes Wunderlich in the Church of England in Grafton within a few weeks oif arriving. As all German migrants had to be married we can only assume that Johannetta and Johannes had slipped through the system or Kirschner persuaded the authorities with a good story.
Lutherans in Grafton
Although the majority of Germans came from Baden and were catholic, there were many Lutherans
 from other parts of Germany. In the 1860 a Lutheran pastor arrived to serve the spiritual needs of these people.
It is unclear as to who this pastor was. We knew that Pastor Hampe served the people from 1877 for four years.
  He then accepted an invitation to join the Evangelical Lutheran Synod of Victoria. There are historical notes that refer to Pastor Hausmann serving the people for several years before that. Pastor Hampe came down from Brisbane but it appears that Pastor Hausmann may have came from Germany and been brought out by Kirschner. The history of the Evangelical Lutheran Church of Australia talks about a Pastor Hoche who seems to have some connection to the Reverend John Dunmore Lang.
What we do know is that Lang had a real concern for the spiritual welfare of the Germans in the Clarence region and visited them on occasions holding worship services in their native language. We also know that Hoche, Hausmann and Hampe had no connection to the South Australian Lutherans while in Grafton. We know that Hampe left the area to serve the Victorian Lutheran Church which later joined one of the South Australian synods. Where Hausmann went from Grafton is also unknown. 

None of these pastors had any connection to the two synods in South Australia prior to coming to Grafton. We know that Hoche tried to form a relationship with the Australian Lutheran Synod in South Australia but his efforts were thwarted by the leaders of that church. Hence we have three dedicated men of the cloth working in isolation trying to provide spiritual comfort to a people scattered over an area of some three hundred square miles.

It is interesting and valuable to see just how these men went about their task.

Four times a year the pastor would set out from Grafton to visit the remote towns of New England and Pilliga.
One Monday morning he would harness his horse and pack his books in one saddle bag. In the other would be books and tracts to share around with those he might meet along the way and to sell to his parishioners. He would have a bedroll of clothing strapped to the saddle.

He would ride out of Grafton and into the ranges. By late afternoon he would arrive at Gostywch near Uralla. Here he would begin his ministry.

As he rode through the range he would decide which family would be his host for the next few days. As a Lutheran pastor he was a humble man of poor mean. His parishioners knew that he could not afford a hotel room. It was a privilege and honour to have their pastor stay in their home. He was a man highly respected and loved by his people.

That night his elders would call on him to discuss the needs of the congregation. They would discuss the circumstance of the respective families and decide on a time and place for worship.

Tuesday morning he would visit the sick, grieving (the funeral had been already held), lonely and distressed. He would visit the mothers of new born infants and arrange the baptism. He might spend some time with young lovers planning to wed.

Wednesday morning would be spent with the older children as he taught them their catechism and prepared them for confirmation. The congregation and its friends would gather for a community lunch followed by a worship service. After, he would spend some time with the younger children and the women of the community.
Meanwhile the elders would take the communion to the sick and incapacitated at home or in hospital. Finally he made any urgent visits before retiring with his hosts for the night.

Next morning he set off again for Kelly’s Plains and on from there until he had visited all eleven congregations. The round trip from Grafton to Narrabri and back again would take most of four weeks. 
We know that he had a congregation in Armidale, Tenterfield and Inverell. This meant that in these centres a lot of the organisation for his visit was done by the congregation officials. In the other centres he had small bands of people who he would need to visit and gather, although usually there was at least one enthused family to support him. It has been suggested that he had a Lutheran Church in Armidale and Tenterfield but that cannot be verified. In Inverell he used the facilities of the Presbyterian Church. It is believed that he used the same church's facilities in Narrabri. It is believed that in the other centres he met in family homes and worshiped under the stars.

When pastor Hampe accepted the invitation to move to Victoria, the Australian Lutheran Synod agreed to provide a replacement pastor, but somehow he never arrived. The people gradually assimilated into the Anglican or Presbyterian congregations or moved north to Queensland for religious reasons.
The South Coast

Leaving Sydney via the Prince’s Highway to travel south we experience some of the most picturesque views in Australia.

It was in this region of hills and valleys with the snow covered ranges on their right and the Pacific Ocean on their left that another group of Germans came to settle in the 19th century.

Once again William Walker seems to have been to instigator. He seems to have arranged or hired a number of families through his compatriot Wilhelm Kirschner.

The migrants arrived in Sydney, but instead of spending days or weeks or even months travelling overland they travelled by steamer down the coast to Twofold Bay (Eden) and disembarked there. They moved inland to the properties where their employ was to be found and settled into a new life in the most beautiful part of the new Land.
In some instances the ship coming from Germany stopped at Twofold Bay and the passengers engaged to work there were then disembarked. In yet other instances the steamers taking them to their new homes went further south to Merimbula.

When their contract ended many of them stayed in the district to become dairy farmers. This is the home of the Australian Illawarra Shorthorn cattle bred especially for milk production in the harsh Australian climate. The south coast of New South Wales is the biggest producer of dairy products in Australia. Much of the credit for this goes to the persistent patience and astuteness of the German dairy farmers of the 19th century.

A number of migrants, including Philip Arentz who was a 'vinedresser' accompanied by his wife Phillipina and their children, arrived at Shoalhaven in 1855. They came out to work on the Coolabagta vineyards owned by Alexander Berry. These vineyards were located at Greenwood Point near Nowra.

Another family to settle here was that of Anton Cecil Ettungshausen and wife Christina Bouman who migrated on the 'Wilhelmburg' arriving in Australia on 18 September, 1855.
Back To Sydney

We have covered the settlement of Germans into New South Wales. In places we have talked in some detail while elsewhere we have skipped over the detail. Whichever it is there is a bigger story to tell. Now we can return to Sydney where our story began.

It is difficult to establish just when the German migration to Sydney actually began or how intense it was.

There are some basic facts and a number of questions to answer, should they actually be factual.

It seems that there may have been a reasonable sized German community in the Redfern/Petersham area. Leichhardt is near there and one assumes that was named in honour of Edward Leichhardt the explorer. It is known that he was living in the area in 1840.

We have on record Elizabeth Magdalene Henkel married an Englishman Thomas James Stevenson at Petersham in 1888. Elizabeth was born at Petersham in 1863. Her father was Johann Otto Henkel who was a cooper by trade and had anglicised his name as John.

He migrated to Australia as a single man and married Magdalene Smyth who also migrated to Australia as a single woman. It appears that Magdalene had changed her name from Reuter to Smyth to anglicize it.

It is unclear whether Johann came direct to Sydney or had been for a time in South Australia. However as he came from Hessen it is doubtful that he would have been accepted by the Germans in the Barossa valley regions.

The Germans to Sydney were at times vagabonds who just wandered into town and stayed. One such fellow was Heinrich Otto Zink who went to New Zealand and then returned to Sydney and settled there.

Certificate of Naturalisation
Whereas, in accordance with the provisions of an Act passed in the sixty-second year of the Reign of Her Majesty Queen Victoria, entitled the “naturalisation and Denization Act of New South Wales 1898," application to be naturalised has been made by Otto Zink, of Emu Street, Burwood, native of Gotha, Germany, aged 50 years who is a builder and arrived in the Colony of New South Wales by the Ship, "Wakitipu" in the year 1879 and who has resided in the said Colony for 21 years, and intends to continue to reside therein: and whereas the said Otto Zink has duly taken the Oath of Allegiance proscribed by the said Act: Now, therefore, I, the Governor of New South Wales, do, with the advice of the Executive Council thereof, hereby grant unto the said Otto Zink, all the rights and capacities within the said Colony of New South Wales of a natural born British subject.

GIVEN under my Hand and Seal, at Government House, Sydney, in New South Wales aforesaid, this Ninth day of October One thousand nine hundred.  By His Excellency’s Command, signed, Beauchamp. Signed, John See. Entered on Record this tenth day of October One thousand nine hundred.  For the Colonial Secretary and Registrar of Records, signed   ...........

(illegible) Principal Under Secretary.

Yet another lady who passed the Sydney way was Amelia Donbrowska who arrived in Sydney from Berlin in 1842 on board the Helvellyn. In 1845 she married Pedro Francisco Morales who may or may not be a German migrant. They lived in Redfern all of their married life.

Ernst August Schrader settled in Redfern area and had 6 daughters between 1870 and 1886. Although he came originally from Osterode am Harz in Saxony, he came to Sydney in 1866 from Brisbane. Ernst seemed to be a shady character who did time for receiving stolen goods. He operated businesses in the cane furniture making industry but seemed to have left Sydney for greener or safer pastures in Wollongong and then Newcastle in later years.

Frederick Janzen married Ann Owen on 28 August 1856 at St. Phillips Church Sydney. At the time of the marriage Frederick was twenty-five years and had been in Australia about five years. Although his occupation is recorded as a chandler it seems that our Frederick might have been a sailor who forgot to join his ship when it left port.

The Schmeidig family started a shoe manufacturing business in Auburn. He was a boot maker by trade. This family actually arrived in South Australia in 1846 from Bremen. They then came to Sydney after an unsuccessful attempt to operate a business in Saddleworth.

Wilhelm Berghoffer arrived aboard the "Triton" in 1853 and Anna Gertrude Althaus arrived with four children on the "Wilhelmsburg" in 1855 to join her husband.  They settled in the Kogarah area for a number of years.

One migrant who seems to have made his mark in Sydney was Abraham Solomon and his brother Serone. They had been in England and took up the profession of house breaking. They fled the police in Liverpool only to be arrested in Berlin and returned to Liverpool to receive their just deserves. They were sentenced to life imprisonment in 1836 and transported to the colony on the “Lady Kennaway”. In time they were given a conditional pardon and became respected citizens of Sydney. Abraham also had dealings in the Hunter at various stages of his life.
PART FOUR

Life After Germany
How They Lived After Arriving

The most important item of furniture was the kitchen table. This served many and varied purposes in the life of the family. At one end of the hut was a stone chimney that served as the fireplace and cooking facility. Initially this was a one room dwelling until the family had established itself. They divided it into separate rooms as the family became more prosperous.

However, one of the most precious items of furniture to these early German families irrespective of place of origin was the rocking chair. There were always at least two rocking chairs on which mother and father would relax of an evening or on Sunday after church. They always sat before a fire that may or may not be lit.

As they settled into this new land they began to live a life unlike anything they had experienced in Europe.
For us their descendants, a meal without meat is either a rarity or a matter of choice. For them meat three times a day was a luxury.

They had so much adjustment to make. Probably the biggest was the tending of livestock.
Every letter written home by these migrants comments with astonishment about the free grazing methods of Australian farmers. They consistently expressed amazement that the animals were not stalled at night. Almost every letters contains a comment about how the cows come home to be milked.

In Europe these men seldom rode a horse and the women never rode. Within months of arrival the family owned a horse and within weeks the whole family were expert riders. Months later they owned their first wagon.

Although almost every family began life in their small slab hut, they slowly enlarged this into a comfortable home of several rooms and two verandas.

The men were immune to working twelve hours a day for six days a week irrespective of weather. It was a shock to experience not working in the fields in inclement weather.

Every family had its own little vegetable patch. Furthermore they could grow most vegetables for most of the year. Potato soon lost its place as the basic diet with so many other vegetables and meat and eggs and milk, butter and cheese laid on.

One feels for the wives who had to adapt to a lifestyle in a climate the very opposite to that of the Rhineland. They arrived at the end of summer to experience a winter compatible to the Rhine summer. This meant that they could shed much of their traditional warm clothing. One can only imagine what that entailed.
In Australia there was a new freedom. No longer was there fear of war. No longer were there religious arguments. The local clergy had no power over them. As long as men and women did their work nobody bothered them.

After the surprise at the availability of meat came the amazement at the relationship between master and worker. There existed a form of friendship that was entirely the reverse to their relationships in Germany.

By our standards, life for these Germans was hard, made more difficult by the traumatic changes of diet, climate and relationships.
The early German Australian lived a simple ordered life.
They were true to their church whether it is Protestant or Catholic. Not all Protestants were Lutheran. Some were Calvinist and followed the Baptist teachings and practices.
Each Sunday would see the family adorned in their very best outfit travel many miles on horse, horse and buggy or on foot to worship in their church. The rest of the day was spent in rest or with family.

They were a very spiritual people. Grace was said before meals. Their daily prayer book, bible, catechism and hymnal were kept in a prominent place near the dining table. All these books were well read.

They were not averse to such apparitions as ghosts and mystic stories of spirits and angels or even of demons. Just how they related some of these experiences to their Christian beliefs made enthralling tales. The priest or pastor was held in reverence. He was educated in both theology and life. He was looked upon as both family friend and father.
Holy days such as Ascension and All Saints days were celebrated with devotion and reverence. For the Protestants, Reformation Sunday was a day of thanksgiving and resolution.

Likewise the seasons of the church year such as Lent and Advent were appropriately celebrated. Lent was a time of personnel reckoning and sacrifice. It began with church services on Ash Wednesday followed by special prayers, fasting and studies until Easter Sunday morning. No wedding would be considered during Lent.

Easter Sunday was a day of special religious celebration while Christmas day was a day of special family celebration.

Education of the children was crucial to them. The families made enormous sacrifices to ensure their children received the best education both secular and religious. State education was not free. The state provided the property but the parents had to pay the salary of the teacher and any other needs of the school.
Despite their strong commitment to education all except the very talented left school at 14 years of age to begin manual work.

Irrespective of the task, our German ancestors were trades people. They were meticulous in everything that they did. Not only were they meticulous; they were very patient. It was the German vine dresser who determined how to plant and prune the vine to produce the grape of size, quantity and quality that eventually made Australia the best wine producer in the world.
The Germans took the patience and applied the skills that enable the driest continent on earth to be one of the largest producers of grain products.
They were determined people who never gave an inch if they believed in something. Their church hides thousand of memories of German against German often over minor issues. The German never surrenders.

They had definite and practical methods of treating illnesses. Every home had its garden of medicinal herbs. Every wife and mother had her special set of remedies that worked with amazing success. Naturopathy was popular among our ancestors from the day they arrived in Australia.
They had strong commitment to family responsibilities. The grandparents played a prominent and important role in the life of the family. Grandmother was the smoother and sympathiser to the children while grandfather was the wise old mentor and counsellor.

No German would ever hear of his parents entering a nursing home. The children had a responsibility to care for the aged parents irrespective of their state of mind. Whichever child inherited the home property had that as a duty and it was filled with love and patience.
No German would hear of a disabled child being institutionalised. One of the children had responsibility to care for the child. Every member of the house had a duty of care to some element of the family.

Hygiene was of utmost importance. In Europe they were not accustomed to a shower a day as we are. It took a generation or two before this Australian custom was really implanted. However they were always meticulously clean in all they did, their personal habits and the surroundings and presentation. You could always tell a German home by the order and neatness of its surrounds unlike the home of some other migrant people.

Monday was laundry day. Really dirty clothes were boiled in a drum over an open fire. Other clothing was washed by hand in a tub (with a scrub up and down). In those homes where there was a nearby creek the river stones often took the place of the scrubbing board. In Germany the clothes were dried by the open fire but in Australia they dried in the sunshine.

There were set tasks for each day of the week. There were set tasks for men and for women as well as for each child.
Of an evening the father would sit in his rocking chair reading by the light of a candle. Mother would sit beside him in her rocking chair mending clothes, sewing, and knitting or engaged in some other craft. The children completed their homework and went quietly to bed.

One day in the week was set aside to make jam, butter, cheese, preserved fruit, soap, candles and other commodities. These people were very skilled and versatile.

One day each year was set aside to make their wurst (sausage). A young pig was especially fattened for this occasion. Sometimes they also had a vealer steer.

All the family and friends would gather. The pig would be slaughtered and dressed. The blood was saved for the blood wurst (black pudding). The gathering would then feast on the fresh pork chops before gathering, mixing and mincing the combination of pork, beef, vegetable and spices and herbs for the various flavoured sausages.

Meanwhile the offal was cleaned and prepared for cooking. The entrails were thoroughly cleaned and washed for sausage skins. The fats and juices were gathered and boiled down for soap, tallow and white pudding sausage.

That evening would see a huge party with singing, dancing and feasting. The party went late into the night and well into the early morning.

Next morning before daylight they would be busy feeding the mince mixture into the cleaned entrails. Every foot or so, the sausage string was cut. Both ends were then brought together, and tied into a circle. The next step was to hang the wurst in the smoke house where it would be cooked over a period of weeks by the smouldering sawdust.
Is there any delicacy more relishing than a slice of fresh home made bread wrapped around a lump of German smoked met wurst?

The Foods They Enjoyed

As a boy I thought that we were given bread and dripping saturated in salt and pepper because there was a war and many things were rationed. In later years I was surprised to learn that this was a normal German snack. Since then I have learned that in modern German restaurants you might well be served with bread and dripping snacks in the same way that we might be served with hors d’oeuvres.

A great favourite of all German families was their sausage or met wurst. It was quite normal when having lunch in the home of our German ancestors to be presented with a lump of met wurst together with a bowl of sauerkraut and rich sour cream.

Another favourite was Pancake soup. This delicacy was made from veal bones with fine crepe type pancakes rolled, finely sliced and placed in the soup just as it was being served.

We talked earlier about the met wurst but it was only part of the meat diet. A popular meat pack was brawn. Here they would put a pigs head and some other meats into a large pot with seasoning and water. The mixture would be boiled until the meat fell off the bone. They would then drain the fats away and place the meat in a dish. The meat mixture would be covered with a cloth and a heavy weight placed on it to press it down firm. After a day or two the cover came off and there was a delicious meal of brawn to be eaten with bread and butter.

Fats were never wasted because the German women always made their own soap using a recipe containing animal fats.

Jam was a necessity. Every woman had her jam recipes. Most popular seemed to be using melons. They could mix melon with any fruit imaginable and make jam. The melons they used were known as Pine Melons having a green flesh unlike the normal water melon colour.

Potato was the main staple diet together with cabbage but pumpkin must have been the most versatile. They could do almost anything with a pumpkin. There was pumpkin pie, pumpkin soup, roast pumpkin, boiled pumpkin, pumpkin cake and most popular of all pumpkin scones.
Their Folk Lore
Our German ancestors were a very spiritual people who lived close to the earth. They had a deep sense of how nature worked before coming to Australia and they quickly learned how to adapt that knowledge in the new land.

Every German home had its own herb garden. Every German woman knew how to mix and apply herbal treatment to aches and pains. They had no hesitation in calling in a doctor but they always supplemented his treatment with a little bit of their own prescriptions.
In the garden they had many means of fertilizing the soil and preventing weeds and insects from damaging the crop. One popular method of watering citrus trees was to gather the over night urine in a chamber pot and empty it beside the citrus tree each morning. They grew magnificent lemons and oranges.
The laundry kitchen water would be used to water the other fruit trees. The German orchard was always loaded with delicious fruit.

They had a mint of beliefs that sound foolish in modern intellectual thinking yet there is an element of truth in a great many:

· If the smoke from a fire or the house chimney goes up then the air is light and there is no rain about.

· If the smoke goes down to the ground then there is rain and cold weather coming.

· If there are lots of ants around, there is rain coming. This is especially true if the ants are building nests off the ground.
· Cover mirrors when there is a thunderstorm because the lightning will be attracted to it.
· If there is a train line several kilometres away and you hear the train whistle but it sounds close, there is a storm on the way.
· They could tell the distance a storm was away by the time between the flashes of lightning and the clashes of thunder.

· Rain will not normally fall in any quantity during a full moon.

· On a waning moon it depends on the way it wanes. If the points for new moon are pointed towards the earth then the moon is leaking water and good rain is coming.

· They could tell the weather by the size and colour of the rings around a full moon.

· if a cloud has a green colour, not grey or black, then it contains hail.
· They would cultivate the ground and plant their vegetables according to the phase of the moon. Some even planted their crops by this method.

· They would never touch a wounded or dead flying fox. This has turned out to be right as the saliva of flying foxes contains a disease that is very similar to rabies, and the only time most flying foxes will bite is when they are injured.

Annex A

Hunter Valley Settlers
Some of the families that came out to work and live in the Hunter Valley regions include:

	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	


Ackermann Jnr John

Ackermann Michael

Appel, Barbara
Bach Christopher
Bambach, Matthaus
Banchs, Heinrika
Barbeler Joseph

Beh Charles
Bendeich George

Beuschel, Friedrich Rudolph
Bick George

Bido Vendelin

Boris Heinrich

Bouffier Heinrich

Bouffier, Martin
Brand John

Brecht, Carl
Bruckmann Sebastian

Burg, Heinrich
Busch, Jacob
Dezer Johannes
Diehl, Friedrich
Diehm George
Dom Peter Joseph
Dreis Christian

Dreis, Andreas

Dreis, Balthasar
Dreis, Johann Wilhelm

Dreis, William
Engel, George Peter
Engleman, Caroline
Geiger, Johann
Geiger, Sebastian
Gentz, Johann Christof
Geyrig, John
Greber, George
Greber, Phlip
Greber, Valentine

Gruber, Valentin
Heinz, Phillip
Hennig, John
Hinckelbein, John
Hofmann, Jokob

Hofmann, Joseph Jnr

Holstein, Joachim

Holz, Maria Rosa
Horadam, Josef
Huebinger, Anna Maria
Isinger family

Jacob, Gail
Kaspar ,Joseph 

Kauerfleine Joseph
Kauter, Christian
Kelman, William
Kempenich, Jacob
Kern, Casper

Kern, John

Khun, Dominicus
Killner, Peter

Kiss, Henry

Klein, George
Kollner, Andrew

Korb, Johann Wilhelm

Kramer ,Josef
Krieger, Jacob
Lees, Johann
Lehr, Karl
Linz family 
Mason, Martin Henry

Maurar, Philep

Merz, Conrad
Miller, Anthony

Moedinger, Godfried
Muller, Carl
Müller, Heinrich

Müller, Jakob
Must, Killner

Naeglein, Johann
Naeglein, Katherina 
Neubrek, Alois
Nies, Peter
Norgardt, Peter
Paff, Jacob

Paff, Jacob Jnr

Philip, Andrew
Pohl, a widow

Pyifur, Jirtab

Riegler, Andrew
Rieth, Adam
Rößler, Theodor

Schaefer, Jacob
Scheiler J.

Schieb
Schiedhering, Karl Sebastian

Schlang, Stephen
Schmitt, Johann
Schree, Peter
Schuber, Anton
Schultz, Henry
Schulzen, Dr. Wm.

Schumacher, Karl
Schumacher, Maria
Schurnerspaw, Fern

Schutz, Hienrich
Schweizer, Maria
Sinz, John

Sleishman family

Solomon, Abraham
Solomon, Serone
Steuerwald, Charles

Stoehr, Charles
Stolz, Eva Joanna
Stolz, William Henry
Storck, Gottfried Jnr

Storck, Joseph Jnr

Trunk, Jacob
Valz, Jacob

Volz, Valentin
Witmann Frank
Wolf, Andreas

Wolf, Heinrich
Wolf, Jacob

Yeark, Christoph

Zolzenbach, Anton
New England Settlers

Some of the German families to settle in New England included:

Arentz

Asimus

Baumgartner

Bower

Brandscheid

Brant

Brauer

Dreis

Ehsman

Eichorn

Fischer

Fuchs

Gentz

Geyer
Glock

Gobbert

Gurg

Guyer

Heiss

Hoscher

Idstein

Jurd

Kliendienst

Koch

Koina

Korb

Kraft

Krahe
Kunz

Leis

Lohse

Pohl

Pontes
Post

Sattler

Schaeffer

Schiffmann
Schmidt

Schmude

Schmutter

Schroder
Schroeder

Schwarz

Schwilk

Seitz

Stenz

Summerlad

Vaupel

Vock, 
Weidemann

Wetzler

Wiekes
Mudgee Settlers

Buchholtz

Drew

Feidler(Fittler)

Gardoll

Hoss

Huth
Muller

Kremer

Kuehner

Kurtz

Lynne

Orth

Rheinberger

Rohr

Rothe

Schiemer

Schipp

Schneider

Scifleet

Streher

Weis

Wurth

Pilliga Settlers

A few of the names that settled in the Pilliga district are:

Arentz

Asimus

Berthold

Bower

Croft/Kraft

Dreis

Ehsman

Gentz

Gobbert

Goldmann

Gurg

Guyer

Halter

Heinrich

Hoscher

Ihglefinger

Jurd

Koina

Korb

Kuhner

Leard

Limberg

Pohl

Ritter

Scheimer

Schmidt

Schmitzer

Seitz

Stenz

Weidemann

Wetzler

Wiekes

Winter

Zimmermann

Riverina Settlers

Scheetz 

The Ships

Below is a list of German Immigrant Ships to Sydney and Newcastle, NSW who arrived under the Assisted Immigration system.

Date of Arrival

4/4/1849

5/7/1849

23/9/1849

3/2/1859

31/3/1852

5/8/1852

25/10/1852

11/12/1852

12/1/1853

18/3/1853

29/4/1853

9/3/1855

29/3/1855

23/5/1855

18/9/1855

7/10/1856

Name of Ship 

Beulah

Parland

Harmony

Balmoral

San Francisco

Reiherstieg

Peter Godeffroy

Caesar Godeffroy

Johan Caesar

Helene

Triton

Catteaux Wattel

Caesar

Peru

Wilhelmsberg

Iserbrook

Departure Port

London 

London

London

London

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg

Hamburg 

Reference #

2145/2459

2145/2459

2145/2459

2145/2461

2145/2463

/2463

/2463

/2463

/2465

/2464

/2465

/2469

/2469

/2471

/2471

/2473

JOADJA CREEK

Yesteryear ...yesterday

Oh so many passed your way,

Full of hopes, full of dreams

Those men who worked the shale seams.

Ladies plied their womanly ways

As their children laughed at play,

Dappled sunlight filtered through

As evening brought its velvet hue.

The School of Arts

Lit up the night

With song and dance,

A merry sight.

Joadja Creek we love you still

Cradled by those ageless hills ...

Tucked away from sight and sound

So the wildlife still abounds.

Wild goats roam the hills at will

Venturing down to drink their fill

Of waters clean, and clear, and cool

Which eddy down to mirror pools.

Wombats wobble from our way

The whispering elms still have their say,
Goannas scale the trees to view
Then we see the herds of roo.

Oh if it could but stay this way


Air like crystal .. sharp and still,

Sunlight glistening through the glades

On sparkling pools, till daylight fades.

For now the stream is pure and clean.

Meandering through this nook of dreams,

In beauteous ways .. so hard to say

And trees grow wild, in vast array.

And still we feel the presence here

Of many a soul who spent their years,

Nurtured here beneath the cliffs

A world apart .. yet still with fears.

The harshness of the wind and wet

The roar of fire .. racing yet.

Of sickness, and the pangs of death

Far away from kin they left.

Yet, the days were mellow too

And daily order was the way.

Youth were schooled, and had their say

And life ... much as it is today.

Except, there was a magic here

Fruit grew sweet; and meat was lean.

Flowers bloomed ... all produce too

And homes were neat, an ideal scene.

Now, amid the ruins we stand

Soul to soul, entwined and bound.

Blended with the earth, are we

As memories echo the hills around.

Janadele Ryman Stewart

Index of Names

Alt, Augustus Theodor Henry 27

Appel, Barbara 49
Australian Agricultural Company 29, 44, 51
Bambach, Matthaus 50
Bamgarten, Albert 33

Banchs, Heinrika 51
Banks, Sir Joseph 28, 41
Bauer, Ferdinand Lukas 28

Baumgartner family 43
Becker family 43
Bedat, Antoinette 40
Beit, Mr 46
Bender family 34
Bender, Francis Martin 34
Bender, Joseph Augustus 34
Bender, Thaddaus Bernard 34
Bender, Willahmenia 34
Berger, Johannes 43
Beuschel, Friedrich Rudolph 51
Bismarck, Otto Von 19, 24

Bouffier, Martin 51
Brachmann, Carl Waldemar 34

Brandscheid, Catherine 43
Brandscheid, Elizabeth 43
Braun, Rudolph 42
Brecht, Carl 51
Brisbane, Governor Sir Thomas 32, 33, 41
Bruckhauser family 31

Burg, Heinrich 52
Busby, James 39
Busch family 49
Busch, Jacob 48
Caesar, Julius 24

Carmichael, Henry 47
Carolingian Empire 24

Carroll, Richard 36

Celts, the 24

Charlemagne 24

Cook, Captain James 24, 27

Cunningham, Alan 41
Dangar, William 43
Danger family 51
Darling, Governor 41
Dezius, Franz & Catharina 42
Diederichs, Johann 43
Diehl, Friedrich 47
Dight, John 36

Discher family 42
Doyle, Edward 33

Dreis, Andreas 49
Dreis, Andrew 50
Dreis, Balthasar 49
Dreis, Barbara 41

Dreis, Henry 50
Dreis, William 49
Drewes, Heinrich Conrad 35

Dutch East India Company 27

Eckert family 43
Ehsman family 40
Ehsman, Albert 38
Eichhorn family 43
Elvers, Johann Matthias 42
Engleman, Caroline 51
Flick, Caspar 29

Flinders, Matthew 28

Forsyth, Mary Ann 42
Franks, Kingdom of 24

Frauenfelder family 36

Frauenfelder family 37

Frauenfelder, Anna Maria 37

Frauenfelder, Barbara 37

Frauenfelder, Barbara Katharina 36

Frauenfelder, Charles Frederick 36

Frauenfelder, Eva Elizabeth 36

Frauenfelder, Friedrich 36

Frauenfelder, Georg 37

Frauenfelder, George Valentine 37

Frauenfelder, Johann Peter 36

Frauenfelder, John Peter jnr 37

Frauenfelder, Joseph Henry 37

Frauenfelder, Margaretha 36

Frauenfelder, Maria Elizabeth Theresia 37

Frauenfelder, Peter John 37

Fraunfelder, Johann Peter 33

Frederick William IV, King 25

Frohnle, Mary Regina 34
Geiger, Johann 49
Geiger, Sebastian 48

Geisler, George 421

Genofeva Pfohler 36

Gentz family 51
Gentz, Johann Christof 51
George III, King 28

George Wyndham 46
Gerhard, Georg 29

Germanic tribes 24

Goebel, Charles 36

Goebel, Philip 36

Goethe, John George 32

Goldmann, Margaret 40
Goldmann, Margaret 43
Haeffner, Christian 35

Haeffner, William 35

Hamell family43
Happ, Andreas 40
Happ, Sarah Ann 40
Hars family 42
Haupt, Ernest 43
Haussman, Pastor 39
Hawkins, Thomas Jarman 50
Helm, Philip 36

Helm, Philipp 37

Hertel, Johann Adam 40
Hickey, Edwin 52
Hoff, Johann 51
Hoffmann, Sophia 41

Holleman, Captain Yde T'Jercxzoon 27

Holz, Maria Rosa 50
Hottes, Anna Katharine 43
Hottes, Phillip 43
Hottes, Phillip 43
Hottes, Susanna 43
Hovel, William 32, 33, 36, 41
Huebinger, Anna Maria 50
Hügel, Karl von 29

Hume, Hamilton 32, 33, 36, 41
Hund family 30

Icley, Thomas 40
Ihle, Andrew 33

Iles, Mary Jane 51
Imberger, Julius 41
Isinger family 50
Iverson, Christian 43
Jamison, Sir John 29

Justus, Agnes 31

Justus, Johann 29

Kauter family 50
Kauter, Christian 50
Keehammer, Anton 37

Kelman, William 45
Kempenich, Jacob 48
King, James 41
Kirschner, Wilhelm 10, 14, 15, 16, 36, 43, 44, 45, 47, 52
Klein, Johann and Eva 31

Klein, Johann George 31

Klensendorlffe, William 33

Kneipp, Johann Baptist 42
Knie families 33

Kohler, Wilhelm 40
Kratz, Catherine 42

Kratz, Henry 43
Kunz, Theodore 43
Lasker family 43
Lees, Johann 49
Leichhardt, Ludwig 14, 15, 45, 46
Leis, Charles 41
Limberg, Caspar 40, 43
Lindeman 47
Linz family 50
Macarthur John 4, 10, 14, 15, 16, 29, 30, 31, 47
Macarthur John jnr 30

Macarthur, William 30

Marcus, Joseph 28

Maroney, Mary 33

Marx Karl 9

Mehl, Carl Christian 40
Melzer family 33

Melzer, Antoni 33

Meyer, Mr F.A 29

Mitchell, Sir Thomas Livingstone 30

Molitor, John 37

Morgan, ‘Molly’ 45
Morse, Mr. George 42
Muller, Franz Melchior 31

Muller, Phillip 43
Naeglein, Johann 50
Naeglein, Katherina 50
Napoleon 9, 19

Norgardt, Peter 47
O’Brien, James 43
Ogilvie, Edward 51
Orth, Johann 43
Oxley, John 41
Pabst, Johann Christoff 29, 35
Palmer, Arthur 43
Paulus, Elizabeth 43
Pfohler, Katherina Barbara 36

Pfohler, Margaretha 36

Philip, Andrew 51
Philip, Jakob 27

Phillip, Captain Arthur 14, 27

Piper, Captain John 40
Prinz family 40
Rau, Elizabeth 37

Rau, Henry 36

Rau, Phillipp 37

Redfern, Doctor 29

Reibelt family 42
Roman Empire, Holy 24

Rumker Christian Charles Louis 33

Rümker, Carl Ludwig 28

Scanlon 50
Schäffer, Philipp 28, 29

Schardt family33

Schieb 46
Schmidt, Lorenz Joseph 34
Schmidt, Maria Elisabetha 34
Schmitt, Johann 49
Schneider, Frederick Wilhelm Reinhold Brett 40
Schroder family 42
Schröder, Claus and Margaretha 42
Schroder, Frederick 43
Schroder, Henry 44
Schröder, Johann Henrich 42
Schroder, Martin Claus 41
Schröder, Peter 42
Schroder, Sophia 43
Schubach, Anna 35

Schubach, Anna Maria 37

Schubach, Heinrich 35

Schuber, Anton 49
Schultz, Henry 50

Schultz, Mr 36

Schumacher, Karl and Maria 52
Schutz, Hienrich 51
Schweizer, Maria 51
Scott, Helenus 45
Sebastian Schubach 36

Seckold, Friedrich 29

Sharpenberg, Frances 42
Siebertt family33

Sleishman family 50
Solomon, Abraham 51
Solomon, Serone 51
Stamm, Anthony and Catherine Mary 41
Stein, Jakob 30

Stein, Johann 29, 30

Stein, Joseph 30

Stoehr, Charles 50
Stoltenberg, Asmus 41

Stoltenberg, Elana 41

Stoltenberg, Johann Hans 41

Stoltenberg, Laura 41

Stolz, Eva Joanna 49
Stolz, William Henry 49
Sturt, Charles 32

Tasman, Abel 27

Taylor, J.S. 47
Townshend, George 48

Trampelt, Christiane Friederike 40
Trinks, Gottfreid 43
Tulau, Andrew Joseph 37

Ulrich, Wilhelm 43
Utz, Caroline 42
Utz, Jonathan Frederick 42
Vaupel family 43
Wäber, Johann 27

Wagner, Elizabeth 42

Wagner, Elizabeth 43
Walford, Barnard 28

Walker, Mr.36

Weber, Carl August Wilhelm 40
Wedesweiler, Bernhard Ludwig 30

Wedesweiler, Johann Joseph 30

Wedesweiler, Johann Oswald 30

Wends 38
Wentworth, William 14, 16, 47
Wenz, Johann 29

Wheeler, Hannah 35

Wiesbaden 47
William I, King 24

Wyndham, George 45, 46
Zillius, Frank 38
Zimmermann, Heinrich 27

Index of Places

"Abington" Bundarra 421

Adelaide 41
Adelaide Hills 19

Adventure Bay, 27

Albury 37

Albury 4, 14, 32, 33, 35, 36, 38, 49
Alloway Bank 40
Alma Park (Wallendal) 38
Alsace region 20, 25

America 48
Antwerp, Belgium 11, 30

Appin near Campbelltown 32

Armidale 39, 41, 43
Ash Island 50
Austria 24

Baden 20, 37, 47, 50
Barossa Valley 36, 38, 41
Basel 21, 24

Bass Strait 12

Bathurst 39, 40, 41, 50
Bautzen 38
Beechworth 35

Belford 49, 50
Belgium 24, 30

Bendemeer 43
Bendfeld, Schleswig-Holstein 41

Bendigo goldfields 40
Berlin 47
Berrima 32

Bethel 37

Bingara 42
Black Forest 21

Black Sea 21, 24

Blue Mountains 40
Bonn 21

Botany Bay 27

Brandenburg, Province of 38
Brisbane 35

Bruny Island 27

Bundarra 42
Camden 4, 17, 29, 30, 31, 32, 35, 40
Camden Valley 29, 30, 31, 32, 45, 49
'Campbell fields' 29

Campbelltown 29, 30, 31

Cape Bauer 28

Cape of Good Hope 12

Captain’s Flat 33

Carcoar 40
Cessnock 50, 51
Chiltern 38
Clarence River 38, 40
Clarence River region 41
Clarencetown 52
Cologne 21

Cottbus 38
Cowpastures 29

Dalwood 45, 46
Darling Downs 39, 41
Deepwater 43
Denman 48, 51
Dight’s Forest 36

Dog Trap Rd, Parramatta 31

Dubbo 39, 40
East Indies (Indonesia) 27

Ebenezer (Walla Walla) 38
Edge Hill 38
Elderslie, NSW 31

Eltville 9, 43, 47, 50
Erbach, Germany 29, 50
Ernsbach 51
Five Mile Creek 33

Forbes 39
France 24, 25

Frankfurt 9, 27, 43, 51
Frauenstein, Nassau 43
Garshwitz Germany 33

Germantown 33

Gerogery 38
Gibraltar 11

Gilgandra 4, 38, 39
Glendon 39
Glenn Innes 4, 39, 40, 42, 43
Goobang Creek 31

Goondiwindi 39
Gostwyck 43
Goulburn 32, 40
Grafton 39, 43
Great Dividing Range 34, 39, 41
GroBsachsen 36

Gundagai 33

Gunnedah 43
Haardt Mountains 20

Hamburg 14, 16, 30, 31, 38, 47, 51
Hanover 42
Hattenheim 29

Hawkesbury River 45
Heidelberg 50
Henty 38, 39
Hesse, Homberg 37

Hessen 9, 28, 29, 40, 47, 47, 49
Hillston 40
Hobart 27, 28

Holbrook 4, 32, 33, 35

Holland 24, 27

Hunter region 51
Hunter River 45
Hunter Valley 4, 14, 20, 30, 31, 32, 39, 41, 42,45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52
Hunter Valley, Upper 46
Illawarra 14

Inverell 4, 39 40, 42, 51
Ireland 36

Ironbark (Stuart Town) 40
Irrawang 45
Jerry's Plains 50
Jever, Germany. 27

Jindera 36, 38
Joadja Creek 34

Kaferthal 50
Kaludah vineyards 50
Kelly's Plains 43
Kidderich Nassau 36

Kiedrich, Germany 42
Kirkton 46
Kyeamba station 33

Kyeamba Station 36

Lachlan River 40, 41
Lake George 32

Lake of Constance 21

Lampoldshausen, Württemberg 43
Lavington 37

Lochinvar 47, 50
London 10, 11, 14, 16, 27, 29, 30, 32, 33, 40, 48
Lorch Rhein 40
Lorch, village of 49
Lorchhausen 49
Lusatia 38
Lutterbek, Schleswig-Holstein 41

Macarthur country 29

Macquarie River 41
Main River 21

Mainz 21

Maitland 40, 45, 46, 49, 50, 51, 52
Mannheim 28, 50
Mayfield 50
Mecklenburg region 44
Melbourne 32, 35, 41
Melbourne 37

Milbrulong 37

Mittagong 34

Mittelheim 29, 50
Monoglo Flats 33

Moree 4, 39
Moreton Bay 41, 42, 43, 46
Morpeth 45
Mosel (River) 20

Mudgee 40
Mulgoa Forest 30

Munyabla 38
Murray River 14, 32, 36, 38, 39
Murrumbidgee River 32

Narellan 40
Narrabri 39, 40,41, 43
Neckarhausen, Baden 30

Netherlands 21, 24

New England 14, 40, 41, 42, 43
New England Ranges 41
New Zealand 43
Newcastle 45, 46, 48, 50
Newell Highway 39
Newstead Station 39, 42
Niederheimbach 51
Norfolk Island 28

North German Plain 21

North Sea 11, 21, 24

Obererlenbach Germany 43
Oberheimbach 51
Oberradd 47
Orchard Hills, Penrith 31

Parkes 39
Parramatta 27, 30, 32

Paterson 49, 50
Penrith 29, 30

Pettycoat Lane, London 28

Picton 29, 31, 33

Picton 34

Pilliga 14, 39, 40, 41
Pleasant Hills 38
Pomerania 40, 51
Porphyry Point, Seaham 47
Port Stephens 44
Queanbeyan 33

Quirindi 41

Ravensworth 41

Ravensworth 50
Raymond Terrace 46
Reichenau 21

Reichensachsen, Hessen 43
Rheingau district 47, 49
Rheinwaldhorn Glacier 21

Rhenish Slate Mountains 21

Rhine Gorge 21

Rhine River 9, 11, 19, 21, 22, 24, 43, 44, 47, 48, 49, 51
Rhine Valley (lands) 20, 24, 47, 52
Rhine, Lower (River) 21, 24
Rhineland 4, 9, 11, 14, 15, 17 19, 29, 30, 47
Rhineland Plateau 21

Riverina 35, 36, 40, 41
Road Range 44
Rocky River 43
Rosemount vineyard 49
Rosenbach, Prussia 32

Rotterdam 30, 49
Royal Arms Hotel, Picton 32

Ruhr Valley 9, 24

Saumarez Ponds 44
Sawpit Gully 43
Saxon, kingdom of 39
Saxony 39, 41
Schleswig-Holstein 42
Schriesheim 51
Schriesheim Baden 36

Schrushiem, Baden 37

Shoalhaven Bay 14

Silesia 14, 19, 36, 39
Silverdale, Camden 30

Singleton 46
South Africa 46
Southern Highlands 34

Spencer Gulf  32

St Antoni 11

Staffordshire 28

Stralsund, Germany 41
Streaky Bay 28

Stroud 45
Stuart Town 41
Swan Peak 40
Switzerland 20, 21

Sydney 12, 14, 16, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36, 41, 42, 43, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 53
Tamworth 42, 44
Tanunda 4

Tarcutta 32, 36

Taree 40
Tarlo near Goulburn 31

Tasmania 27

Taurus Mountains 20, 43
Temora 4, 39, 40
Ten Mile Creek 33

Tenterfield 40, 42, 43
Tenterfield, West 42
Thames River 11

Tocumwal 40
Toowoomba 52
Town Hall Hotel, Albury 37
Trevallyn 50
Trial Bay Gaol 41
Trundle 44
Tumbarumba 33

Turks Head Hotel, Albury 37

Uralla 42, 44
Uranquinty 39
Vienna 28

Vosges Mountain 20, 21

Wagga Wagga 33, 38, 40
Walla Walla 35, 39, 40
Warialda 41
Warialda district 43
Wellingrove 41, 44
Wellington Rd, Parkes 31

Werombi 30

West Wyalong 40
Western Plains 14, 40
Williams River 48
Winkle, Nassau 30, 43, 51
Wißloch, Germany 27

Wollombi Brook 52
Wurttemberg 29, 31, 42, 44, 48, 52
Yarrowford 44
Yass 32

Yulgilbar 52
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Vineyards in the Rhine Valley





A View of Eltville





The Rhine River flowing through Germany





A Hunter Valley vineyard in the 1800s





19th German House on the Rhine the Rhine





Johann Baptist and Caroline Kneipp





The living area with the open fire place





The family dog operating the family grinding mill





Hume & Hovell crossing the flooded Murrumbidgee with pontoon raft





Tahmoor House at Picton





A German wagon





The front entrance to a German slab hut





The children and families at the opening of the Lutheran School at Jindera








A Naturalization Certificate issued to Otto Zink in 1898





Woolly sheep and Kelpie dog symbols of New England

















� History of the Uckermark


�At that time men greatly outnumbered women in the colony. Although convict migration had ceased there were still a great number of convicts living and working in almost every community. The administration had brought in a number of Irish women to fill the void but the discovery of gold had negated that effort. At the same time in Europe women outnumbered men because so many men were in the colonies and America making their fortune. A woman would not remain single orf very long. One example is the wife of Balthaser Dries who within months of his death married an Englishman. As a respectable woman she could have the hand of any man she desired. Hence the administration was adamant that the number of single men is kept to a minimum and so they demanded only German married couples or whole families.


� Baden was a state on the east bank of the Rhine River in the southwestern corner of Germany. It comprised the eastern half of the Rhine River valley together with the adjoining mountains.


� Basel is a city on the Rhine in northern Switzerland at the mouths of the Birs and Wiese rivers. It is here that the French, German, and Swiss borders meet


� Franks were a Germanic-speaking people who invaded the Western Roman Empire in the 5th century AD. They were a powerful Christian kingdom that dominated present-day northern France, Belgium, and western Germany..





� This was a family of Frankish aristocrats who established a dynasty in the 8th century to rule Western Europe.





� The varying complex of lands in western and central Europe ruled over first by Frankish and then by German kings for 10 centuries from 800 to 1806.


� Hessen is one of the German states found to the east of the Rhine plateau. Its largest city is Frankfurt.


� A major city in the German state of Baden in the Rhine Valley.


� Most German men were called Johann being a spiritual name meaning that he had been baptised. As a result they were always called by the second name which was in fact the given name.


� Baden was one of the many German states. It was the centre of the Rhine Valley wine industry.


� Ash Island is located on Kooragang Island on the Hunter River near Newcastle.


�Clarencetown is 50kms north of Newcastle on the edge of the Hunter Valley. The town is set out along the banks of the Williams River. It was a busy and important river port until the railway arrived. By the 1880's dairying, 


� A wheelwright was a person who made and repaired the wheels of the carriages wagons.





� In Germany they were called Evangelish.


� Times Gone By, Horsham Mail Times, 27/9/1999





�The Merino Sheep Into Australia


In 1787 Governor Phillip on his way to Botany Bay, called into the Cape of Good Hope. There he obtained a number of sheep. They had hairy fleeces and fat tails making them suitable for food but for wool. Unfortunately only a few of these survived long enough to breed. Apparently the climate did not suit them.


In 1797 Captains Waterhouse and Kent were sent by Governor King to buy cattle at the Cape of Good Hope. Whether they bought any cattle or not is not known but they did buy twenty six merino sheep. These had descended from two rams and four ewes that the King of Spain had presented to the Dutch government.


Actually these sheep are believed to be Escurials being sheep belonging to the royal flock of the Spanish king.


They distributed the flock among their mates at Port Jackson. John Macarthur managed to get four ewes and two rams out of the deal.


Macarthur had already bought sixty Bengal ewes and lambs plus two Irish ewes and a ram. He had discovered that by crossing the Bengal ewes with the Irish rams he had a mingled fleece of hair and wool.


This gave him the idea that he could produce fine wool from crossing the right breeds of sheep. AS a rsult he brought more sheep form South Africa that were small and hardy with a fine good quality wool.


In 1825 Macarthur went to the northern states of Germany and brought home from Saxony some 700 Saxon merino ewes. The Saxon sheep is a small sheep with fine wool. Its progeny is the superfine wool that made the Australian wool export industry. The Saxon merino adapted very easily to the cooler inland regions of Australia.








